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Imagine if your office was the 
Gulf of Mexico. Travis’ is.

That makes a trip to the office no 
small affair. In fact, when Travis 
visits an offshore rig, he doesn’t 
even have the option of decid-
ing when he’s leaving or when 
he’s coming home. Every trip is 
coordinated with the rig, who 
informs him when and where to 
catch a boat that will take him 
out. Some boat rides are an easy 
25 minutes up a river to an in-
land barge rig. But others might 
be hours into the Gulf with re-
lentless six-foot waves the entire 
trip. And the dock? The near-
est one is in Dulac, Louisiana— 
130 km from his home in  
Maurice, Louisiana. So his first 
task is to get himself there  
before departure time.

The difficulty of the trip also 
limits what he can bring. Every 
nut, bolt, target ring, mouse, 
and monitor is lifted off his 

Pason is a leading global provider of  
specialized data management systems for 
drilling rigs. Our solutions, which include 
data acquisition, wellsite reporting, remote 
communications, and web-based information 
management, enable collaboration between 
the rig and the office.

Our products are rig tough, and are specifically 
built to withstand diverse climates and harsh 
environmental conditions. Our products 
must endure extreme temperatures, humidity, 
wind, and exposure to seawater. No matter 
the weather conditions, our customers rely 
on Pason equipment to function.

Our products are robust, but so are our 
people. We hire talented field service tech-
nicians to keep our systems up and running. 
They travel great distances to remote rig 
locations—in some cases through different 
time zones—and must work in the same  
climates and weather conditions as our 
products. They are out there, and they’re 
working hard.

We are global. We are tough. We are Pason.

These are some of our stories.



truck and into the boat, then off the boat 
and onto the rig: whatever isn’t used makes 
the return trip home. For this reason, Travis 
almost has to solve the problem before he 
even heads out to the rig. It is simply too  
inefficient—and unsafe—to carry every piece 
of equipment he might need for a call.

That’s a lot of hauling back and forth, but it’s 
just the kind of dedication to the job that 
has earned Pason the reputation for the 
best service in the industry. Our customers 
like having a specific technician who they  
always deal with. That’s one way we earn our 
customers’ trust.

Having reliable equipment is another way. 
“The rigs really like the dependability of our 
system,” says Travis.  “That alone has helped 
in getting the operator to use the system.”

As for Travis, he enjoys the challenge of 
working on the system. “I like the trouble-
shooting part of the job. I like having to  
figure out what is wrong and getting it fixed.”

Out of the whole spectrum of Pason’s prod-
ucts, it’s the Pason Gas Analyzer that many 
of our offshore customers appreciate most. 
It’s worth noting that it is illegal to drill 
an offshore well without a gas detection  
system, and as Travis notes, our Gas Analyzer 
is “easy to use and is very dependable.”

While our customers may come to expect 
reliability from any Pason product, they can 
also take comfort in knowing that we have 
field service technicians like Travis ready to 
help them out of a jam, whenever, wherever.



The radio alarm rings. It’s 6:00 am, pitch black, and freezing 
cold. For Shane, it’s a fairly typical winter morning in Fort 
Nelson, British Columbia (BC), Canada. 

When you live this far north—just shy of the 60th parallel—
it’ll still be dark for hours. Pason field technicians in northern  
Canada must be prepared to work in the dark, endure extreme 
weather conditions, and travel long distances to their jobs.

Shane, who has worked as a Pason field technician for 
three years, is based in Fort Nelson. Located at historic 
mile 300 along the Alaska Highway, Fort Nelson is remote: 
his closest jobs are two hours away. Today, however, he 
doesn’t have the luxury of a two-hour drive.

He rolls out of bed, puts his work clothes on, and pre-
pares to head outside and start his truck. He glances at 
the thermometer: -32°C. That’s not too bad for a place 
where January temperatures can dip as low as -52°C. 
In fact, Fort Nelson is the coldest location in BC from  
November through to February.

Shane knows that today is going to be a long day. Last 
night, he got a call from one of the biggest land rigs in  
Canada. They just moved the rig to a new lease near Fort 
Liard, Northwest Territories (NWT), which is not only in a dif-
ferent province, but in a different time zone. His first effort 
to talk the rig crew through the problem last night was un-
successful, so he has to head out early to make the journey. 



“When a massive rig makes a move, they prefer to have the 
Pason field technician reconnect all of the equipment to en-
sure proper operation when it’s time to drill,” says Shane. 
This rig, in particular, has a full complement of Pason equip-
ment, so there is a lot of rig up involved. 

Depending on the season and the weather conditions, the 
trip to this rig varies drastically. Although winter conditions 
can result in treacherous roads, some aspects of travel are 
easier. When the ice roads are open, it’s only a 3.5 hour drive 
from Fort Nelson to the Fort Liard rig. However, despite the 
frigid temperatures, the ice roads are not yet navigable. 

Today, his plan is to drive 4 hours from Fort Nelson to Fort 
Liard and hop on a helicopter for a quick 20 minute flight up 
the Liard River to a pick up point, where the contractor rig 
crew will meet him and drive him to the rig.

During the spring and summer, the trip becomes even more 
complicated. It involves three different modes of transpor-
tation spanning close to a total of 300 km. He drives for 2.5 

hours to Fort Liard and then takes a helicopter or a river boat 
to the other side, where he is then picked up by a crew truck 
and delivered to the rig. 

If he needs his truck, it’s a whole other story. He parks his 
truck on a barge that travels only 50 km upstream, but takes 
12 hours to arrive due to the strong currents of the mighty Li-
ard River. The same trip on a passenger boat takes only one 
hour from Fort Liard to the pick-up location. From there, he 
is met by the contractor’s crew truck. He works with his bare-
bones essentials for 12 hours before his truck arrives with the 
rest of his gear. The process of getting back is the same, but 
the fast-moving downstream current of the Liard River cuts 
the barge time in half.

So, what drives Pason’s field technicians to work in these  
conditions? Well, for Shane, it’s due to his own entrepreneurial 
spirit. As he jokes, “it’s like running your own company—
without the pains of running your own company.” Call it a 
win-win situation: Shane gets to do the job he loves, and  
Pason gets a dedicated field technician.

Photos: Courtesy of Shane Allin.



What does it take to overcome record floods, blistering 
heat, bush fires, and downed rigs on a stretched budget 
and few spare parts? If you ask Keith, he’ll tell you that all 
it takes is a little Aussie Pride. Overcoming difficulties and 
celebrating successes has been a large part of Keith’s job 
description, as a field technician and now as Operations 
Manager of Pason Australia.

Today, he is in charge of 11 employees, 85 rigs, and 7 field 
trucks. But it wasn’t always like that.

Back in 2008, he didn’t even get the field sales and  
service technician (FSST) role at Pason that he had  
applied for. But two years later, to his surprise, he got a 
call from Pason inquiring “if I was still interested.” He was.  
So he set off from the gold fields of Kalgoorlie, Western  
Australia, and drove 2,400 km across the Nullarbor 
Plain, a seemingly endless stretch of treeless semi-arid  
desert along the Great Australian Bight, to Adelaide,  
South Australia, to sit down and discuss the job. 



His return trip across the Nullarbor was a nail-biting 
drive without cell reception. Thankfully, when he final-
ly got reception there was a message saying that he 
had the job. Two weeks later, he was out on a rig. As 
Keith puts it, “there’s nothing like being thrown in the  
deep end.”

In 2010, Pason Australia had four field technicians and 
one truck servicing over 20 rigs across an expansive 
3,000 km2. Keith and his colleagues endured 20-hour 
days and two-day trips to get to locations with minimal 
tools and parts. 

Over the next year, the numbers of field technicians and 
rigs increased, and revenue rose correspondingly, al-
lowing them to “splash out and buy an additional truck 
and tools.” But rig counts quickly outnumbered capable 
hands—meaning a return to long days, sleepless nights, 
and weeks away from home. Nevertheless, they had re-
cord numbers of rigs and revenue, making all the hard 

work seem worthwhile. As Keith recalls, “we thought we 
were well on our way.”

And they were, until the worst floods in 100 years wiped 
out more than 75% of their rigs, resulting in a 90% loss in 
revenue. It was a disheartening blow that redoubled—
literally—when the floods came back the following year, 
knocking out rigs, damaging parts, and deflating morale.

So what’s an Aussie to do? Keith and his team simply rolled 
up their sleeves and went back to work.

“We decided we had to prove that Australia can make it.”

And they did. By 2013, Pason Australia proved themselves 
a force to be reckoned with. With an 85% market share, 
a 52% increase in revenue, and a growing team of field 
technicians, the future is looking brighter than ever.



Driving up to 450 km a day to  
assist a customer comes with the 
territory when you’re a field techni-
cian in the province of Santa Cruz,  
Argentina. The territory in ques-
tion is the southernmost region of  
Pason Argentina operations, and 
the field technician is Hernan.

He lives in Pico Truncado, which is 
just 60 km from the Atlantic Ocean 
and only 200 m above sea level.  
Being so close to the ocean, you 
might expect a humid coastal  
environment, but that’s not the 
case. Pico Truncado is located in 
the steppes of Patagonia, a moun-
tain range famous for its towering 
spires. However, it’s also notorious 
for its wind. It’s a place where trees 
grow sideways and humidity gets 
whisked away by the ever-present 
winds from the west.

Having joined the Pason family on 
June 4, 2007, he is the longest- 
serving field technician in 
the region. Pico Truncado is  
affectionately known as the  



“Windy City,” but the wind around here is no joke, especial-
ly when it affects your work. At times, the wind can be so  
severe that it becomes an obstacle at work, interfering  
with data transmission, causing road closures, and making  
customer service difficult.

But Hernan takes the wind in stride. In fact, the weather in 
Santa Cruz can get downright bitter in winter. And on 
snowy days, with temperatures at 18°C below zero, the 
wind is the least of his worries. Then he has to be very  
cautious while driving hundreds of kilometers on highways that, 
in some cases, have no signage at all. Somehow, he always 
makes it to the rig, though. But as he admits, “sometimes the 
biggest daily challenge is just reaching the customer on time.”

That much driving naturally carries a certain risk. That’s why 
Pason Argentina has focused on increasing its attention 
to the safety of employees like Hernan. One plan that was 

put into place by the safety team was the installation of 
the GPS tracking system to track incidents and accidents. 
Coupled with communication, supervision, and follow-up 
training in defensive driving, this program has shown a  
significant positive effect on driver safety.

A further boost to safety on the road has been the renewal 
of the entire fleet of trucks used by Pason Argentina.  
Although still underway, results in both safety and maintenance 
have so far been excellent. Upon completion of the renewal 
process, Pason Argentina anticipates continued improve-
ments in vehicular safety.

And that’s great news for Hernan, who counts on a reliable 
truck to get him out to two or three rigs a day. With new 
trucks and a great driver safety program in place, he and 
the rest of the Pason Argentina team are looking forward to 
a new era of safe travels.
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PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE

Pason’s customer service remains unrivalled in the industry. 
Our operating model, along with a dynamic and entrepre-
neurial company culture, drives a business environment 
that enables those closest to our customers to provide the 
best possible care. Our service includes a network of highly 
skilled and motivated field service technicians, who are 
based across North America, South America, and Australia. 

Our field network is supported 24 hours a day, 365 days a 
year, by on-call technical experts and a wealth of informa-
tion resources. Because of this, Pason is able to respond to 
customers quickly and efficiently. In addition, our culture, 
which places an obligation on every Pason employee to 
challenge established beliefs and ways of doing things, 
is vital to meeting and exceeding customer expectations 
every day, and to maintaining an environment that is able 
to attract, motivate, and retain the best talent. This annual 
report celebrates the hard work and efforts of our field 
service technicians and highlights a few stories from the field 
around the world. 

Pason is pursuing a multi-horizon growth strategy. In 2013, 
we had important developments and successes in each of 
the horizons: 

•	 Deployment of the Universal Junction Box (UJB), 
which is part of the Electronic Drilling Recorder (EDR).  

The UJB makes the lives of our field service techni-
cians, and our customers’ rig crews, easier. First-time 
installations and rig moves are much quicker and sim-
pler, especially on larger rigs and pad rigs. 

•	 Continued growth in average revenue generated on 
each customer rig was driven by demand for Commu-
nications services (e.g., more bandwidth at the rigsite), 
and increasing penetration of the Gas Analyzer, includ-
ing its more advanced features. 

•	 Despite leading market shares in all core geographies, 
our business units were able to achieve further market 
share gains. 

•	 Deployment of the new Rig Display (a ruggedized 19-
inch touch screen computer) started towards the end 
of 2013. Initial customer reception and demand has 
been very positive.

•	 Progress has been made in growing our presence in 
new geographies including the Middle East and in the 
offshore drilling market.

Marcel Kessler
President and CEO

“Pason’s customer 
service remains
unrivalled in the industry.”
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PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE

Overall performance
In 2013, Pason was able to maintain its eleven-year track 
record of regular dividend increases and a pristine balance 
sheet. Our dividend, which started at $0.05 a share per year 
in 2003, steadily increased to $0.53 a share by 2013. Now 
issued quarterly, we recently declared a dividend of $0.15 
a share for the first quarter of 2014, a 7% increase over the 
previous quarter. At the end of 2013, our cash position stood 
at $89.5 million, which included $11.5 million cash held in 
trust for the January 2014 payment of the Q4 2013 dividend. 
We do not carry any debt on our balance sheet.

Our year-end cash position, as well as our EBITDA and net 
income for 2013, were significantly impacted by the provi-
sion and settlement of the litigation relating to our Auto-
Driller. An additional provision of $62 million was booked in 
2013 related to this litigation. A payment of US$112 million 
was announced in August and paid in November 2013. This 
resolves all claims against Pason. Achieving a final resolution 
on this matter removes a significant uncertainty which has 
surrounded Pason for several years and allows us to more 
confidently pursue our plans for strategic growth.

Strong operational performance in all business units more 
than offsets continued declines in drilling activity across 
North America. In 2013, drilling industry days were down 
9% in the United States and 4% in Canada compared to the 
previous year. Despite these adverse developments, reve-
nue grew to a record $403 million, the first time in our history 
that we have surpassed the $400 million mark. The key 
drivers of this growth were increases in the average revenue 
generated on each customer rig (measured as revenue per 
EDR day), strong performance in our international markets, 
and market share gains in North America.

All major product categories generated revenue growth 
above North American drilling industry activity during the 
year, with the exceptions of the AutoDriller and the Hazard-
ous Gas Alarm. The Communications segment demon-
strated the highest year-over-year growth, followed by the 
Gas Analyzer. The AutoDriller demonstrated negative growth 

rates because this equipment is not typically installed on 
modern alternating current (AC) drilling rigs. Revenue 
generated by the Hazardous Gas Alarm decreased because 
the H2S sensor functionality was suspended early in the year.

United States
The US segment includes our US rental business and 3PS 
Inc., our Austin-based sensor manufacturer. We grew our EDR 
market share for the full year to 57%, compared to 56% in 2012. 
Revenue for the US segment was up 4% to $232 million. Reve-
nue growth in excess of industry activity was achieved through 
higher product penetration, a change to the Communications 
pricing model, and a gain in market share, resulting in an 8% 
increase in average daily revenue per rig from US$562 in 2012 
to US$605 in 2013. The major segments which demonstrated 
the highest year-over-year growth rate were Communications, 
followed by Gas Analyzer and Software.

Canada
Drilling activity in Canada was again lower in 2013 than in the 
previous year. Following a decline of 14% in 2012, industry 
days were down another 4% in 2013. Our Canadian business 
unit was able to offset this reduction through a modest 

“Our dividend, which started 
at $0.05 a share per year in 
2003, steadily increased to 

$0.53 a share by 2013.”
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increase in product adoption and an increase in market 
share. EDR market share was 95% in 2013 compared to 93% 
in 2012. Average daily revenue generated on each rig with 
a Pason product installed grew 3% to $1,101 in 2013 from 
$1,072 in 2012. As a result, Canadian revenue was up 1% to 
$127 million. Gas Analyzer, EDR (including Workstations and 
SideKicks), and software products showed above average 
growth rates during the year.

International
Our International business unit, which includes our busi-
nesses in Latin America, Australia, offshore and frontier 
regions, had a strong year. Revenue increased 18% to $45 
million and operating profit was up 74% to $10 million for 
the year. We realized notable gains in Argentina, Australia, 
offshore, and frontier regions. Brazil and Mexico continue to 
be more challenging markets. The International business unit 
was able to generate 11% of Pason’s total revenue in 2013.

Outlook
Analyst forecasts for drilling industry activity in North 
America are flat to modestly positive for 2014, with a view 
to potentially increase towards the end of the year and into 
2015, driven by LNG-related gas drilling activity.

We anticipate that some of the new products and product 
enhancements in both hardware and software will start gaining 
traction in the North American market in 2014. The new 
Rig Display is already deployed on over 300 drilling rigs in 
the United States and Canada. We also expect continued 
growth in the Gulf of Mexico, Middle East, and other frontier 
regions, where Pason equipment is already active on over 50 
drilling rigs.

We plan for an increase in our R&D, IT, and Corporate Services 
cost as we make important investments in our technical infra-
structure and systems, as well as in our business development 
capabilities. Our capital expenditure budget for the next 12 
months is up to $96 million, $64 million of which is directed 
towards new hardware that can generate incremental revenue 
or save operating costs, $17 million for maintenance capital, 
and $15 million for capitalized R&D. Our cash-generating 
capacity and our cash position are more than sufficient to 
cover new business development, planned equipment 
upgrades, and the dividend.

With access to 2,000 drillings rigs and over 10,000 users of data 
per day worldwide, a competitive product suite, and a promis-
ing R&D project pipeline, Pason is well-positioned to capitalize 
on growth opportunities going forward.

“Our International business 
unit had a strong year…
operating profit was up 74% 
to $10 million for the year.”

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors,
Marcel Kessler  President & Chief Executive Officer
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
The following discussion and analysis has been prepared by management as of February 27, 2014, and is 
a review of the financial condition and results of operations of Pason Systems Inc. (Pason or the Company) 
based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and should be read in conjunction with the 
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.

Certain information regarding the Company contained herein may constitute forward-looking statements 
under applicable securities laws. Such statements are subject to known or unknown risks and uncertainties 
that may cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking 
statements.

All financial measures presented in this report are expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated.

Overview of the 2013 Fourth Quarter
Three Months Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2013 2012 2011
(000s, except per share data) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Revenue 108,947 94,006 100,933 403,088 386,514 346,158
Income (loss) 24,288 (13,703) 31,702 23,655 39,884 86,223

Per share – basic 0.30 (0.17) 0.39 0.29 0.49 1.05
Per share – diluted 0.29 (0.16) 0.39 0.29 0.48 1.04

EBITDA (1) 55,231 8,286 47,920 136,647 151,753 171,661
As a % of revenue 50.7 8.8 47.5 33.9 39.3 49.6
Per share – basic 0.67 0.10 0.59 1.66 1.85 2.10
Per share – diluted 0.66 0.10 0.58 1.66 1.84 2.08

Funds flow from operations 44,981 36,948 42,089 123,075 158,948 145,358
Per share – basic 0.55 0.45 0.51 1.50 1.94 1.78
Per share – diluted 0.54 0.44 0.51 1.49 1.92 1.76

Cash (used in) from operating
activities (75,220) 34,215 36,451 62,047 169,178 126,329

Per share – basic (0.92) 0.42 0.45 0.76 2.06 1.54
Per share – diluted (0.90) 0.41 0.44 0.75 2.05 1.53

Free cash flow (1) (95,347) 20,199 14,340 (8,617) 97,754 47,788
Per share – basic (1.16) 0.25 0.18 (0.10) 1.19 0.58
Per share – diluted (1.15) 0.24 0.17 (0.10) 1.18 0.58

Cash dividends declared (2) 0.14 0.24 0.20 0.53 0.46 0.38

(1) Non-IFRS financial measures are defined in the Management's Discussion and Analysis section. 
(2) The Company changed its dividend policy whereby, effective for 2013, the Company adopted a quarterly dividend to replace the semi-annual dividend. 
 The $0.24 dividend declared in the fourth quarter of 2012 and the $0.20 dividend declared in the fourth quarter of  2011 represent the second semi-

annual dividend in the respective year.
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Additional IFRS Measures
In its audited consolidated financial statements, the Corporation uses certain additional IFRS measures. 
Management believes these measures provide useful supplemental information to readers.

Funds flow from operations
Management believes that funds flow from operations, as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Cash 
Flows, is a useful additional measure as it represents the cash generated during the period, regardless of 
the timing of collection of receivables and payment of payables. Funds flow from operations represents the 
cash flow from continuing operations, excluding non-cash items. Funds flow from operations is defined as 
net income adjusted for depreciation and amortization expense, non-cash stock-based compensation 
expense, deferred taxes, and other non-cash items impacting operations.

Cash from operating activities
Cash from operating activities is defined as funds flow from operations adjusted for changes in working 
capital items.

Funds flow from operations and cash from operating activities were impacted by the Company's accounting 
for the litigation provision. Before 2013, the Company recorded it as a non-cash add back to arrive at funds 
flow from operations. In 2013, the provision and settlement was treated as a change in working capital to 
calculate cash from operating activities.

Non-IFRS Financial Measures
These definitions are not recognized measures under IFRS, and accordingly, may not be comparable to 
measures used by other companies. These Non-IFRS measures provide readers with additional information 
regarding the Company's ability to generate funds to finance its operations, fund its research and development 
and capital expenditure program, and pay dividends. 

EBITDA
EBITDA is defined as net income before interest expense, income taxes, stock-based compensation expense, 
and depreciation and amortization expense.

Free cash flow
Free cash flow is defined as cash from operating activities less capital expenditures and deferred  
development costs.
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Overall Performance
Three Months Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 Change
(000s) ($) ($) (%) ($) ($) (%)

Revenue
Electronic Drilling Recorder (1) 46,551 40,601 15 175,120 168,951 4
Pit Volume Totalizer 15,931 14,100 13 60,589 59,220 2
Communications (1) 7,844 4,875 61 28,597 20,850 37
Software 7,295 6,694 9 27,651 26,950 3
AutoDriller 9,896 9,410 5 37,445 40,399 (7)
Gas Analyzer/Total Gas System 8,585 6,898 24 31,501 27,304 15
Hazardous Gas Alarm System 1,218 1,932 (37) 5,152 7,345 (30)
Mobilization 2,897 3,098 (6) 11,292 12,265 (8)
Sales (2) 4,870 2,949 65 13,195 9,575 38
Other 3,860 3,449 12 12,546 13,655 (8)

Total revenue 108,947 94,006 16 403,088 386,514 4

(1)  A portion of the Company's USA communications revenue was reclassified to EDR revenue to better reflect the nature of such revenue. All comparative 
figures have been restated accordingly. This change had no impact on reported key metrics, EBITDA, cash flow from operating activities, or net income 
(Q4 2012 - $2,153, YTD 2012 - $9,344, YTD Q3 2013 - $6,711). 

(2) Sales and rental services expense for 2012 has been reclassified to conform with 2013 presentation. 

Electronic Drilling Recorder (EDR) and Pit Volume Totalizer (PVT) rental day performance for Canada and 
the United States is reported below:

Canada
Three Months Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 Change
(%) (%)

EDR rental days (#) 30,600 28,300 8 113,600 115,700 (2)
PVT rental days (#) 29,700 27,900 6 111,100 114,200 (3)

United States
Three Months Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 Change
(%) (%)

EDR rental days (#) 88,500 86,100 3 351,300 378,800 (7)
PVT rental days (#) 66,700 62,100 7 263,700 267,800 (2)

Electronic Drilling Recorder
The Pason EDR remains the Company's primary product. The EDR provides a complete system of drilling 
data acquisition, data networking, and drilling management tools and reports at both the wellsite and customer 
offices. The EDR is the base product from which all other wellsite instrumentation products are linked. By 
linking these products, a number of otherwise redundant elements such as data processing, display, storage, 
and networking are eliminated. This ensures greater reliability and a more robust system of instrumentation 
for the customer. Revenue generated from the EDR increased 15% for the fourth quarter of 2013 compared 
to the same period in 2012 and on an annual basis revenue was up 4%. This increase is attributable to 
continued growth in demand for EDR peripheral devices in all of the Company's major markets, an increase 
in US market share over the fourth quarter of 2012 (57% versus 54%), a similar increase in the Canadian 
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market share (94% versus 92%), a strengthening US dollar relative to the Canadian dollar, and new revenue 
in frontier markets. These factors were offset by a drop in rig activity in the US market (4% for the fourth 
quarter and 9% year to date), while fourth quarter Canadian rig activity was up 5% over 2012 levels, but 
decreased 4% on an annual basis. Canadian EDR days increased 8% in the three months ended December 
31, 2013, while US EDR days increased by 3%. On an annual basis, EDR days dropped 2% in Canada and 
7% in the US, both of which compared favorably to the decline in rig activity. 

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Pason EDR was installed on 95% of all active land rigs in 
Canada and 57% of the land rigs in the US.

In addition, the Company continues to gain new customers in its International business unit. 

Pit Volume Totalizer
The PVT is Pason's proprietary solution for the detection and early warning of “kicks” that are caused by 
hydrocarbons entering the wellbore under high pressure and expanding as they migrate to the surface. PVT 
revenue for the quarter was impacted by an increase in product penetration in the US market and the foreign 
exchange fluctuation, offset by the change in rig activity previously described above. During the year ended 
2013, the PVT was installed on 98% of rigs with a Pason EDR in Canada and 75% in the US, compared to 
99% and 71%, respectively, in 2012.

Communications
Pason's Communications rental revenue is derived from the Company's automatic aiming satellite system. 
This system provides high-speed wellsite communications for email and web application management tools. 
Pason displays all data in standard forms on its DataHub web application, although if customers require 
greater analysis or desire to have the information transferred to another supplier's database, data is available 
for export from the Pason DataHub using WITSML (a specification for transferring data among oilfield service 
companies, drilling contractors, and operators). The Company continues to complement its satellite 
equipment with High Speed Packet Access (HSPA), a high-speed wireless ground system that requires lower 
capital cost, less service, and lower cost per Internet kilobyte, benefiting Company margins. In Canada, 
HSPA has been installed on all rigs, and the majority of the rigs running will benefit from the investment in 
HSPA given the growth in cellular coverage. In the US, field coverage tests for HSPA are continuing with 
positive results. In addition, the US business unit increased its revenue as a result of a shift in the pricing 
model for communication services.

Software
The Pason DataHub is the Company's data management system that collects, stores, and displays drilling 
data, reports, and real-time information from drilling operations. The DataHub provides access to data through 
a number of innovative applications or services, including:

• Live Rig View (LRV), which provides advanced data viewing, directional drilling, and 3D visualization 
of drilling data in real time via a web browser.

• Mobile Viewer, which allows users to access their data on mobile devices, including iPhone, iPad, 
BlackBerry, and Android.

• WITSML, which provides seamless data sharing with third-party applications, enhancing the value of 
data hosted by Pason.

• Additional specialized software, including remote directional.
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During the year ended 2013, 97% of the Company's Canadian customers and 90% of customers in the US 
were using all or a portion of the functionality of the DataHub, compared to 98% and 87%, respectively, in 
2012. 

AutoDriller
Pason's AutoDriller is used to maintain constant weight on the drill bit while a well is being drilled. During 
the year ended December 31, 2013, the AutoDriller was installed on 73% of Canadian and 45% of US land 
rigs operating with a Pason EDR system, compared to 78% and 49%, respectively, in 2012. Pason's market 
share for this particular product has declined from previous levels due to the introduction and advancement 
of integrated drilling rigs.

Gas Analyzer and Total Gas System
The Pason Gas Analyzer, which has replaced the Total Gas System (TGAS) in the Canadian and US markets, 
measures the total hydrocarbon gases (C1 through C4) exiting the wellbore, and then calculates the lag time 
to show the formation depth where the gases were produced. The Gas Analyzer increases the functionality 
that was found in the TGAS product to include the actual composition of the gas, and further calculates 
geologic ratios from the gas composition to assist in indicating the type of gas, natural gas liquid, or oil in 
the formation. The Company continues to realize increased product penetration for this product. For 2013, 
the Gas Analyzer was installed on 57% of Canadian and 23% of US land rigs operating with a Pason EDR 
system. The penetration in Canada is an increase of approximately 5% in market share over 2012 levels 
while the US has seen an increase of 4%. The roll out of the Gas Analyzer in the International markets 
continues with anticipated completion in most of the major markets in 2014.

Hazardous Gas Alarm System
The Pason Hazardous Gas Alarm System (HGAS) monitors lower explosive limit (LEL) gases and H2S gases 
and displays the readings on the EDR. If a hazardous rig atmosphere is detected, the system reacts 
immediately, sounding an alarm and flashing a strobe light. Early in 2013, the Company identified a sensor 
on the H2S product, a part of the HGAS system, that was not performing to the manufacturer's standards. 
As a result, the Company suspended the functionality of this portion of the HGAS while it investigates a 
solution to the problem. The Company initiated field trials with a new technology in the third quarter of 2013 
and while results showed improvements in performance, the Company continues to research alternatives. 
The Company is still able to rent this equipment out in its International operations, as the issues identified 
tend to be related to the operation of the sensors in cold climates.

Mobilization
Mobilization revenue is comprised of all services provided to our customers for which they are invoiced, and 
includes service calls, equipment installations, mileage, satellite transportation, and replacement parts.

Sales
Sales represent sensors and other systems sold by 3PS, Inc. and spare parts sold by Pason Offshore.

Other
Other is comprised mostly of service rig recorder rentals in Latin America and Electronic Choke Actuator 
rentals.
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Discussion of Operations
United States Operations

Three Months Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 Change
(000s) ($) ($) (%) ($) ($) (%)

Revenue

Electronic Drilling Recorder (1) 27,883 24,705 13 108,021 107,160 1

Pit Volume Totalizer 8,755 7,685 14 33,959 33,459 1
Communications (1) 3,417 901 279 11,997 4,789 151
Software 4,548 4,134 10 17,586 16,976 4

AutoDriller 5,124 5,073 1 20,467 23,222 (12)

Gas Analyzer/Total Gas System 3,461 2,667 30 13,285 11,312 17

Hazardous Gas Alarm System 534 800 (33) 2,200 3,169 (31)

Mobilization 2,164 2,299 (6) 8,551 9,233 (7)
Sales (2) 4,381 2,547 72 11,998 7,790 54
Other 1,024 1,209 (15) 3,896 5,944 (34)

Total revenue 61,291 52,020 18 231,960 223,054 4

Operating costs (2) 22,502 21,084 7 88,697 85,811 3

Depreciation and amortization 7,909 7,713 3 29,366 32,381 (9)

Segment operating profit 30,880 23,223 33 113,897 104,862 9

(1) A portion of the Company's USA communications revenue was reclassified to EDR revenue to better reflect the nature of such revenue. All comparative 
figures have been restated accordingly. This change had no impact on reported key metrics, EBITDA, cash flow from operating activities, or net income 
(Q4 2012 - $2,153, YTD 2012 - $9,344, YTD Q3 2013 - $6,711). 

(2) Sales and rental services expense for 2012 has been reclassified to conform with 2013 presentation. 

US segment revenue increased by 18% in the fourth quarter of 2013 over the 2012 comparable period (11% 
increase when measured in USD), while revenue from the rental of instrumentation equipment increased 
16% for the quarter (USD 9%).

For the year ended 2013, US segment revenue increased by 4% (USD 1%) over the previous year, and 
revenue from the rental of instrumentation equipment increased by 3% (USD 0%).

As expected, the number of US drilling days decreased approximately 4% in the fourth quarter of 2013 
versus the fourth quarter of 2012. However, revenue from the rental of instrumentation compared favorably 
to the drop in activity, with an increase of 16% (USD 9%) over 2012 levels.

Annual drilling days decreased 9% over 2012 levels while rental revenue continued to hold up well against 
the decline in activity with an increase of 3% (USD 0%). 

Revenue was impacted by the following factors:

• More products on each rig, new product adoption, and a favorable exchange rate. Revenue increased 
as a result of a change in the pricing model for communications service, additional product penetration, 
primarily with gains in EDR peripheral devices (mostly due to Workstations), increased PVT market 
share, customer acceptance of the Company's Live Rig View (LRV) real-time data software, and an 
increase in the adoption of the Gas Analyzer. These factors combined resulted in an increase in revenue 
per EDR day in the fourth quarter of 2013 over 2012 levels of $73 (USD $37). On a year-to-date basis 
revenue per EDR increased by $62 (USD $43) over 2012.
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• An increase in EDR rental days of 3% for the three months ended December 31, 2013, over the same 
time period in 2012, and a decrease of 7% for the year ended 2013 over 2012 levels.

• A reduction in Hazardous Gas Alarm revenue due to the Company removing the H2S sensor from the 
rig site due to the issues surrounding the functionality described above and a reduction in product 
adoption of the AutoDriller.

 
The factors explained above resulted in the US segment being able to realize revenue per EDR day during 
the fourth quarter of 2013 of $641 (USD $611) compared to $568 (USD $574) during the same time period 
in 2012. For the year ended  December 31, 2013, revenue per EDR day increased by $62 (USD $43) to 
$623 (USD $605) over 2012 amounts.

Revenue per industry day for the fourth quarter of the year was $367 (USD $350) compared to $305 (USD 
$308) in 2012. On a year-to-date basis, this metric increased by $42 (USD $31) to $356 (USD $345).

US market share was 57% during the year ended December 31, 2013, a slight increase from the 
corresponding period in 2012.

The majority of the increase in Sales revenue relates to the increase in sales of sensors and systems by 
3PS to third parties. 

Segment profit, as a percentage of revenue, was 50% for the fourth quarter of 2013 compared to 45% for 
the corresponding period in 2012, an increase of $7.6 million. Year-to-date operating profit increased $9.0 
million. The US business unit was able to increase its operating margin by leveraging its fixed cost structure 
and controlling variable costs, including repair costs, which are down $0.3 million for the quarter and $1.4 
million for the full year, as a result of the drop in active rig count, which allows the business unit to use idle 
equipment in its fleet to satisfy customer demand, and a drop in average repair costs on some products. 

The 2013 fourth quarter and full year segment profit percentage was impacted by the following factors (all 
amounts in $CDN):

• An increase in communication-related expenses of $0.5 million for the fourth quarter and $2.4 million 
for the full year due to the US business unit implementing a more robust level of service to its customers. 
The business unit revised its pricing structure to reflect this increased level of performance.

• An increase in 3PS sales, with a corresponding increase in costs of goods sold, which is included in 
operating costs.

• Most other rental service costs were relatively flat over the corresponding period in 2012 when 
measured in USD. However, because of the weakening Canadian dollar, rental service costs, when 
measured in CDN, increased by $0.9 million for the fourth quarter and $0.7 million year to date. 

• Fourth quarter 2013 depreciation and amortization expense was relatively flat compared to the fourth 
quarter of 2012. Year-to-date depreciation was down $3.0 million for the following reasons: 

• The Company began to accelerate the depreciation on its TGAS system in 2012 to recognize 
the fact that it was being replaced by the Gas Analyzer. The TGAS systems are now fully 
depreciated, resulting in a reduction in depreciation expense of $2.4 million.

• In the first quarter of 2012, the Company began to accelerate the depreciation on a portion of 
its base EDR system, which will become obsolete as a result of new product initiatives. Later 
in 2012, the Company re-evaluated this assumption and reduced the amount of accelerated 
depreciation being recorded. This led to a reduction in depreciation of $2.7 million.
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• The above reductions were offset by an increase in depreciation on the Gas Analyzer system 
and upgrades to its communication infrastructure to accommodate increased functionality. Both 
of these added approximately $2.0 million in depreciation expense.

Canadian Operations
Three Months Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 Change
(000s) ($) ($) (%) ($) ($) (%)

Revenue

Electronic Drilling Recorder 13,621 11,864 15 48,943 46,632 5

Pit Volume Totalizer 5,343 4,929 8 19,706 19,921 (1)
Communications 4,034 3,861 4 15,077 15,524 (3)
Software 2,620 2,385 10 9,631 9,461 2

AutoDriller 3,475 3,368 3 12,522 13,500 (7)

Gas Analyzer/Total Gas System 3,913 3,357 17 13,618 12,303 11

Hazardous Gas Alarm System 339 609 (44) 1,482 2,443 (39)

Mobilization 141 178 (21) 496 638 (22)
Sales — — — — — —
Other 1,367 1,488 (8) 5,147 5,316 (3)

Total revenue 34,853 32,039 9 126,622 125,738 1
Operating costs 10,228 8,858 15 37,116 36,291 2
Depreciation and amortization 7,757 6,246 24 26,088 26,964 (3)
Segment operating profit 16,868 16,935 — 63,418 62,483 1  

Canadian segment revenue grew by 9% for the three months ended December 31, 2013, compared to the 
same period in 2012. This positive growth is a result of a 5% increase in the number of drilling industry days 
from 2012 levels, combined with more product penetration of a number of different products, and an increase 
in market share to 94% versus 92% in 2012. 

On a year-to-date basis, revenue increased by 1%, compared to the year ended 2012. The number of drilling 
days was down by 4%, but similar to the fourth quarter, revenue increased due to product penetration and 
growth in market share. 

EDR rental days increased 8% in the fourth quarter of 2013 over 2012 levels. The decrease in EDR rental 
days for the year ended 2013 was 2%, which was a positive result compared to the decrease in industry 
days of 4%.

Canadian market share was 95% during the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to 93% in the 
corresponding period in 2012.

The Canadian business unit was able to increase its revenue over and above the change in industry activity 
in the fourth quarter mostly through increased product adoption, notably EDR peripherals, including SideKicks 
and Workstations, and increases in software revenue. In addition, the business unit continued to gain market 
acceptance of the Gas Analyzer. These factors combined to lessen the impact of the drop in revenue from 
the AutoDriller and the Hazardous Gas Alarm System as a result of the issues described previously.

The factors above combined to result in the following:

• An increase in revenue per EDR day during the fourth quarter of 2013 compared to 2012 of $5 to 
$1,121. For the year ended December 31, 2013, revenue per EDR increased by $29 to $1,101. 
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• Fourth quarter revenue per industry day of $1,055 in 2013 compared to $1,022 in 2012. This metric 
for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $1,041, an increase of 5% over the similar period in 2012.

The segment profit for the fourth quarter of 2013 of $16.9 million is a decrease of $0.1 million over the 2012 
amount. Factors impacting the fourth quarter results include:

• Fourth quarter activity levels in Canada were modestly stronger year-over-year. 

• Fourth quarter operating expenses include an increase in satellite bandwidth costs of $0.8 million, as 
an additional segment was added to improve the customer experience at the rig. These costs should 
remain at current levels going forward. 

• A slight increase of $0.6 million in field-related costs and repairs due to the increase in industry activity.

• An increase in depreciation and amortization expense due to a non-cash write-off of $1.1 million of 
previously capitalized R&D costs as a result of the decision to discontinue funding such projects.

The increase in satellite costs and depreciation and amortization expense resulted in segment profit, as a 
percent of revenue, dropping to 48% in the fourth quarter of 2013, compared to 53% in the fourth quarter of 
2012. 

Factors impacting the year-to-date results include weakness in drilling activity in the first three quarters of 
2013, which led to a decrease in industry days of 4,400 (4%) for the 2013 year, with a corresponding decrease 
in EDR rental days of 2,100 or 2%. Other factors impacting the year-to-date results include:

• An increase in satellite bandwidth costs of $1.6 million. 

• A slight decrease in field-related costs, including repairs, due in most part to the drop in rig activity for 
the full year. 

• A decrease in depreciation and amortization expense of $0.8 million comprised of: 

• A decrease in depreciation due to the TGAS being fully depreciated. This, combined with a drop 
in the acceleration of depreciation on a portion of its base EDR systems, led to a decline in 
expense of $2.7 million. 

• A non-cash write-off of $1.0 million of previously capitalized R&D costs as a result of the decision 
to discontinue funding such projects, combined with an increase in amortization of R&D costs 
of $1.0 million as a result of the deployment of new software applications.
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International Operations
Three Months Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 Change
(000s) ($) ($) (%) ($) ($) (%)

Revenue

Electronic Drilling Recorder 5,047 4,032 25 18,156 15,159 20

Pit Volume Totalizer 1,833 1,486 23 6,924 5,840 19
Communications 393 113 248 1,523 537 184
Software 127 175 (27) 434 513 (15)

AutoDriller 1,297 969 34 4,456 3,677 21

Gas Analyzer/Total Gas System 1,211 874 39 4,598 3,689 25

Hazardous Gas Alarm System 345 523 (34) 1,470 1,733 (15)

Mobilization 592 621 (5) 2,245 2,394 (6)
Sales 489 402 22 1,197 1,785 (33)
Other 1,469 752 95 3,503 2,395 46

Total revenue 12,803 9,947 29 44,506 37,722 18
Operating costs 6,715 6,152 9 27,702 23,073 20
Depreciation and amortization 1,534 2,518 (39) 6,717 8,868 (24)
Segment operating profit 4,554 1,277 257 10,087 5,781 74  

Revenue in the International operations increased 29% in the fourth quarter of 2013 compared to the same 
time period in 2012. Year-to-date revenue increased 18%. 

Operating profit increased by $3.3 million for the fourth quarter of 2013 over 2012 results. Operating profit 
for the year ended December 31, 2013 increased 74% over the similar period in 2012. 

A number of factors influenced these results:

• In Latin America, increased activity in Argentina and the Andean region offset continued market 
weakness in Brazil and Mexico. Revenue was up 14% for the fourth quarter of 2013 versus the 
comparative period in 2012. On a year-to-date basis revenue increased 7%.

• Australia revenue increased 30% for the fourth quarter of 2013 and 46% for the full year from 2012 
levels as drilling activity continues to increase across the region, combined with a slight uptick in market 
share. This revenue increase translated into an increase in operating profit of approximately 70% over 
2012 for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2013. 

• The Company continues to increase its customer base in areas the Company has identified as "frontier 
markets" including the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) regions. These new markets, combined 
with increases in market share in the Gulf of Mexico, resulted in an increase in year-to-date revenue 
of 32% over 2012 levels. 

• Operating costs increased due to importation-related expenses in getting additional equipment into 
certain markets and increases in field-related costs in the markets, which saw an increase in industry 
activity.
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• Depreciation and amortization decreased because intangible assets that were being amortized are 
now fully amortized and increased asset utilization has reduced the need for new additional equipment.

• The Company's Argentinian subsidiary recorded a  foreign exchange loss in the fourth quarter of 2013 
of $0.5 million as a result of the devaluation of the Argentinian peso.

Corporate Expenses
Three Months Ended December 31, Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 Change 2013 2012 Change
(000s) ($) ($) (%) ($) ($) (%)

Other expenses

Research and development 6,820 7,033 (3) 27,252 22,467 21

Corporate services 4,319 4,326 — 17,373 15,723 10

Stock-based compensation 6,144 7,237 (15) 32,511 23,792 37

Other

Litigation provision — 32,500 (100) 61,614 37,913 63

Foreign exchange loss 2,797 10 27,870 2,175 4,573 (52)

Earn-out provision — — — 3,071 — —

Impairment loss — 5,282 (100) — 7,918 (100)

Other 335 475 (29) 1,441 992 45
Total corporate expenses 20,415 56,863 (64) 145,437 113,378 28

Consolidated Results 
The Company recorded net income of $23.7 million or $0.29 per share for the 2013 year compared to net 
income of $39.9 million or $0.49 per share in 2012. The 2013 results, when compared to the 2012 numbers, 
were impacted by the following corporate-related items: 

• Research and development costs were higher in 2013 versus 2012, as the Company in 2012 completed 
the hiring of additional staff to support the product development initiatives. 

• An increase in stock-based compensation expense of 37% due to the 34% increase in the value of 
the stock price during 2013. 

• An additional provision of $61.6 million booked in 2013 relating to the litigation, which was settled in 
August, 2013.

• Part of the 2009 purchase of Petron was an earn-out clause that was conditional on the successful 
commercialization of a revenue stream generated from a product designed by Petron. In the third 
quarter of 2013, the Company and the previous shareholders of Petron agreed to an amount of $3.1 
million and a provision for this amount was recorded.

• In 2012, the Company recorded additional non-cash write-downs relating to its investment in the US 
water treatment business and its Torque and Tension Sub product. 

• The effective tax rate for 2013 is significantly higher than the 2012 rate due to the following factors:

• The significant non-deductible, non-cash expense provision for the expensing of common share 
options under the Black-Scholes pricing model.

• The Petron earn-out provision.
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Q4 2013 versus Q4 2012
The active rig count in the US decreased by 4% over the fourth quarter of 2012, while Canadian activity 
increased by 5%, and both business units saw an increase in their market share. The International market 
saw a modest increase in total drilling days, with pockets of significant growth (Offshore, Australia, Argentina) 
combined with continued weakness in other markets (Brazil, Mexico). 

The Company recorded a net profit of $24.3 million or $0.30 per share in the fourth quarter of 2013 compared 
to a net loss of $13.7 million or $0.17 per share in the fourth quarter of 2012. The fourth quarter consolidated 
results, when compared to 2012 figures, were impacted by the following significant items:

• Stock-based compensation expense decreased compared to the fourth quarter of 2012 due to a smaller 
increase in the Company's stock price in the fourth quarter of the current year versus 2012.

• In the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company recorded an additional accrual of $32.5 million for the 
liability related to the patent litigation. This litigation was settled in August of 2013. 

• An increase in the foreign exchange loss of $2.7 million due to:  

• The weakening Canadian dollar versus the US dollar, which resulted in a loss on the revaluation 
of the litigation provision into Canadian dollars until the payment date in November of 2013.

• A foreign exchange loss in Argentina as a result of the devaluation of the Argentinian peso.

• During the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company recorded a non-cash impairment loss of $4.7 million 
against its Torque and Tension Sub product, and an additional $0.6 million against the US water 
treatment business.

Q4 2013 versus Q3 2013 
The Company's fourth quarter is usually its second-strongest quarter. The Canadian business unit realized 
a profit of $16.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2013, compared to a $15.9 million profit 
in the third quarter of 2013. The US business unit realized a profit of $30.9 million for the three months ended 
December 31, 2013, compared to a $30.5 million profit in the third quarter of 2013. International operating 
profit was up $2.0 million from the prior quarter. 

The following items also impacted the comparison to the third quarter 2013 results:

• A decrease in stock-based compensation expense of $9.6 million compared to the third quarter of the 
current year due to an increase in the Company's stock price of 19% during the third quarter compared 
to an increase in the stock price of 2% in the current quarter.

• An increase in depreciation and amortization expense of $1.1 million due to the Company recording 
in the fourth quarter a non-cash write-off of previously capitalized R&D costs. 

• An increase in the foreign exchange loss of $2.1 million due to the factors described in the section 
above.

• A part of the 2009 purchase of Petron was an earn-out clause that was conditional on the successful 
commercialization of a revenue stream generated from a product designed by Petron. In the third 
quarter of 2013, the Company and the previous shareholders of Petron agreed to an amount of $3.1 
million and a provision for this amount was recorded in the third quarter.
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Summary of Quarterly Results

Three Months Ended
Mar 31,

2012
Jun 30,

2012
Sep 30,

2012
Dec 31,

2012
Mar 31,

2013
Jun 30,

2013
Sep 30,

2013
Dec 31,

2013
(000s, except per share data) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Revenue 115,145 84,112 93,251 94,006 109,267 81,367 103,507 108,947
Income (loss) 29,073 6,772 17,742 (13,703) 29,608 (39,376) 9,135 24,288

Per share – basic 0.35 0.08 0.22 (0.17) 0.36 (0.48) 0.11 0.30
Per share – diluted 0.35 0.08 0.21 (0.16) 0.36 (0.48) 0.11 0.29

EBITDA (1) 64,146 31,656 47,665 8,286 59,790 (28,275) 49,901 55,231
Per share – basic 0.78 0.39 0.58 0.10 0.73 (0.34) 0.61 0.67
Per share – diluted 0.78 0.38 0.58 0.10 0.72 (0.34) 0.60 0.66

Funds flow from (used in)
operations 51,707 30,132 40,161 36,948 47,835 (24,979) 55,238 44,981

Per share – basic 0.63 0.37 0.49 0.45 0.58 (0.30) 0.67 0.55
Per share – diluted 0.63 0.36 0.49 0.44 0.58 (0.30) 0.66 0.54

Cash from (used in) operating
activities 45,004 48,105 41,854 34,215 46,194 51,236 39,837 (75,220)

Per share – basic 0.55 0.59 0.51 0.42 0.56 0.62 0.49 (0.92)
Per share – diluted 0.55 0.58 0.51 0.41 0.56 0.62 0.48 (0.90)

Free cash flow (1) 25,521 27,119 24,915 20,199 32,250 37,059 17,421 (95,347)
Per share – basic 0.31 0.33 0.30 0.25 0.39 0.45 0.21 (1.16)
Per share – diluted 0.31 0.33 0.30 0.24 0.39 0.45 0.21 (1.15)

(1) Non-IFRS financial measures are defined in the Management's Discussion and Analysis section. 

Reconcile income (loss) to EBITDA

Three Months Ended
Mar 31,

2012
Jun 30,

2012
Sep 30,

2012
Dec 31,

2012
Mar 31,

2013
Jun 30,

2013
Sep 30,

2013
Dec 31,

2013
(000s) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Income (loss) 29,073 6,772 17,742 (13,703) 29,608 (39,376) 9,135 24,288
Add:

Taxes 11,257 3,653 6,680 (1,725) 11,498 (9,718) 8,931 7,599
Depreciation and amortization 16,897 16,987 17,852 16,477 14,934 13,948 16,089 17,200
Stock-based compensation 6,919 4,244 5,391 7,237 3,750 6,871 15,746 6,144
EBITDA (1) 64,146 31,656 47,665 8,286 59,790 (28,275) 49,901 55,231
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Reconcile cash from operating activities to free cash flow

Three Months Ended
Mar 31,

2012
Jun 30,

2012
Sep 30,

2012
Dec 31,

2012
Mar 31,

2013
Jun 30,

2013
Sep 30,

2013
Dec 31,

2013
(000s) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Cash from (used in) operating
activities 45,004 48,105 41,854 34,215 46,194 51,236 39,837 (75,220)
Less:

Additions to property, plant and
equipment (17,236) (18,005) (14,456) (10,587) (10,201) (10,604) (18,101) (17,265)
Deferred development costs (2,247) (2,981) (2,483) (3,429) (3,743) (3,573) (4,315) (2,862)
Free cash flow (1) 25,521 27,119 24,915 20,199 32,250 37,059 17,421 (95,347)

Variations in Pason’s quarterly financial results are due in part to the seasonality of the oil and gas service 
industry in Canada, which is somewhat offset by the less seasonal nature of US and International operations. 
The first quarter is generally the strongest quarter for the Company due to strong activity in Canada, where 
location access is best during the winter. The second quarter is always the slowest due to spring break-up 
in Canada, when many areas are not accessible due to ground conditions, and, therefore, do not permit the 
movement of heavy equipment. Activity generally increases in the third quarter, depending on the year, as 
ground conditions have often improved and location access becomes available; however, a rainy summer 
can have a significant adverse effect on drilling activity. By the fourth quarter, often the Company’s second 
strongest quarter, access to most areas in Canada becomes available when the ground freezes. 
Consequently, the performance of the Company may not be comparable quarter to consecutive quarter, but 
should be considered on the basis of results for the whole year, or by comparing results in a quarter with 
results in the same quarter for the previous year.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
As at December 31, 2013 2012 Change
(000s) ($) ($) (%)

Cash 78,018 138,253 (44)
Working capital 127,933 163,371 (22)
Funds flow from operations 123,075 158,948 (23)
Capital expenditures 70,664 71,424 (1)
As a % of funds flow (1) 57.4% 44.9% 28

(1) Calculated by dividing capital expenditures and acquisitions by funds flow from operations.

Contractual Obligations
Less than 1

year 1–3 years Thereafter Total

(000s) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Operating leases 3,203 4,868 11,580 19,651

Contractual obligations relate to minimum future lease payments required primarily for operating leases for 
certain facilities and vehicles.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company purchased 1.4 million stock options for a total 
cash consideration of $10.2 million.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had no capital lease obligations, and other than the operating leases 
detailed above, has no off-balance sheet arrangements.

The Company has available a $5.0 million demand revolving credit facility. At December 31, 2013, no amount 
had been drawn on the facility.

Disclosure of Outstanding Share and Options Data
As at December 31, 2013, there were 82.2 million common shares and 4.6 million options issued and 
outstanding. As at February 27, 2014, there were 82.2 million common shares and 4.4 million options issued 
and outstanding.

SEDAR
Additional information relating to the Company can be accessed on the Company’s website at 
www.pason.com and on the Canadian Securities Administrators’ System for Electronic Document Analysis 
and Retrieval (SEDAR) at www.sedar.com.
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Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires that certain estimates and judgments be 
made with respect to the reported amounts of revenue and expenses and the carrying value of assets and 
liabilities. These estimates are based on historical experience and management’s judgments, and as a result, 
the estimates used by management involve uncertainty and may change as additional experience is acquired.

Depreciation and Amortization
The accounting estimate that has the greatest impact on the Company’s financial statements is depreciation 
and amortization. Depreciation of the Company’s capital assets includes estimates of useful lives. These 
estimates may change with experience over time so that actual results could differ significantly from these 
estimates.

Carrying Value of Assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed 
at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. Judgments and 
assessments are made to determine whether an event has occurred that indicates a possible impairment. 
If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible 
assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated 
each year.

Stock-Based Payments
The fair value of stock-based payments is calculated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. There are 
a number of estimates used in the calculation, such as the future forfeiture rate, expected option life, and 
the future price volatility of the underlying security, which can vary from actual future events. The factors 
applied in the calculation are management’s best estimates based on historical information and future 
forecasts.

Income Taxes
The calculation of deferred income taxes is based on a number of assumptions, including estimating the 
future periods in which temporary differences, tax losses, and other tax credits will reverse. Tax interpretations, 
regulations, and legislation in the various jurisdictions in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate 
are subject to change.

The estimation of deferred tax assets and liabilities includes uncertainty with respect to the reversal of 
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for the carry-forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits when 
it is probable that taxable income will be available to utilize unused tax losses and unused tax credits. This 
requires estimation of future taxable income and usage of tax loss carry-forwards for a considerable period 
into the future. Income tax expense in future periods may be affected to the extent actual taxable income is 
not sufficient or available to use the temporary differences giving rise to the deferred tax asset.
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Risk and Uncertainties
Pason has implemented a risk management framework that helps the Company manage the reality that 
future events, decisions or actions may cause undesirable effects. The framework takes a value-based 
approach to identifying, prioritizing, communicating, mitigating and monitoring risks, and aligns this with the 
organization’s appetite for risk considering our culture, strategy, and objectives.

Although a framework can help the Company to manage its risks, the Company’s performance is subject to 
a variety of risks and uncertainties. Although the risks described below are the risks that we believe are 
material, there may also be risks of which we are currently unaware, or that we currently regard as immaterial 
based upon the information available to us. Interested parties should be aware that the occurrence of the 
events described in these risk factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, 
and financial condition.

Operating Risks
Pason derives the majority of its revenue from the rental of instrumentation and data services to oil and gas 
companies and drilling contractors in Canada, the US, Australia, and Latin America. The demand for our 
products is directly related to land-based or offshore drilling activity funded by energy companies’ capital 
expenditure programs. A substantial or extended decline in energy prices or diversion of funds to large capital 
programs could adversely affect capital available for drilling activities, directly impacting Pason’s revenue.

Commodity Prices
Prices for crude oil and natural gas fluctuate in response to a number of factors beyond Pason’s control. 
The factors that affect prices include, but are not limited to, the following: the actions of the Organization of 
Petroleum Exporting Countries, world economic conditions, government regulation, political stability in the 
Middle East and elsewhere, the foreign supply of crude oil, the price of foreign imports, the availability of 
alternate fuel sources, and weather conditions. Any of these can reduce the profits of energy companies by 
reducing the amount of drilling activity.

Seasonality
Drilling activity in Canada is seasonal due to weather that limits access to leases in the spring and summer, 
making the first and last quarters of each year the peak level of demand for Pason’s services due to the 
higher level of drilling activity. The length of the drilling season can be shortened due to warmer winter 
weather or rainy seasons. Pason can offset some of this risk, although not eliminate it, through continued 
growth in the US and internationally, where activity is less seasonal.

Proprietary Rights
Pason relies on innovative technologies and products to protect its competitive position in the market. To 
protect Pason’s intellectual property, the company employs trademarks, patents, employment agreements, 
and other measures to protect trade secrets and confidentiality of information. Pason also believes that due 
to the rapid pace of technological change in the industry, technical expertise, knowledge, and innovative 
skill, combined with an ability to rapidly develop, produce, enhance, and market products, also provides 
protection in maintaining a competitive position.
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Litigation
The Company is involved in various claims and litigation arising in the normal course of business. While the 
outcome of these matters is uncertain and there can be no assurance that such matters will be resolved in 
Pason’s favour, the Company does not currently believe that the outcome of any pending or threatened 
proceedings related to these or other matters, or the amounts which the Company may be required to pay 
by reason thereof, would individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse impact on its day-to-day 
business operations.

Credit Risk
Pason is exposed to credit risk to the extent that its customers, operating primarily in the oil and natural gas 
industry, may experience financial difficulty and be unable to meet their obligations. However, Pason has a 
large number of customers on both the Operator and Contractor side, which minimizes exposure to any 
single customer.

Availability of Qualified Personnel
Due to the specialized and technical nature of Pason’s business, Pason is highly dependent on attracting 
and retaining qualified or key personnel. There is competition for qualified personnel in the areas where 
Pason operates, and there can be no assurance that qualified personnel can be attracted or retained to meet 
the growth needs of the business. To mitigate this risk, Pason has a Vice President, People & Culture and 
continues to engage the services of recruiters to improve recruiting effectiveness.

Alternative Energies
There continues to be extensive discussion at all levels of government worldwide and by the public concerning 
the burning of fossil fuels and the impact this may have on the global environment. A number of countries 
have publicly committed to further advance the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. Though it is much 
too early to determine the impact on the oil and gas industry, the global response to these initiatives may 
lead to consequences, such as increased focus on fuel conservation measures, additional research into 
renewable resources, and stringent limits on the amount of carbon dioxide emissions. The availability of 
alternative fuel sources, reductions in global consumption, or government regulations aimed at reducing the 
use of fossil fuels could negatively impact energy companies, which could in turn reduce the available capital 
for drilling programs, thereby impacting demand for associated drilling rig rental instrumentation.

International Operations
Approximately 90% of the Company’s revenues are generated in Canada and the US, which limits exposure 
to risks and uncertainties in foreign countries. Assets outside of Canada and the US may be adversely 
affected by changes in governmental policy, social instability, or other political or economic developments 
beyond the Company’s control, including expropriation of property, cancellation or modification of contract 
rights, and restrictions on repatriation of cash. The Company has undertaken to mitigate these risks where 
practical and considered warranted.

Foreign Exchange Exposure
The Company operates internationally and is primarily exposed to exchange risk relative to the US dollar. 
The Canadian operations are exposed to currency risk on US denominated financial assets and liabilities 
with fluctuations in the rate recognized as foreign exchange gains or losses in the Consolidated Statements 
of Operations. The Company’s self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries expose the Company to exchange rate 
risk on the translation of their financial assets and liabilities to Canadian dollars for consolidation purposes. 
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Adjustments arising when translating the foreign subsidiaries into Canadian dollars are reflected in the 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income as unrealized foreign currency 
translation adjustments. The Company has not hedged either one of these risks.

The Company does not employ any financial instruments to manage risk or hedge its activities. The vast 
majority of the Company’s activities are conducted in Canada and the US, where local revenue is earned 
against local expenses and the Company is therefore naturally hedged.
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal 
Controls over Financial Reporting
The preparation and presentation of the Company's consolidated financial statements and the overall 
reasonableness of the Company's financial reporting are the responsibility of management. The Board of 
Directors is responsible for overseeing management's performance of its responsibilities for financial 
reporting and internal control. The Board of Directors exercises this responsibility with the assistance of the 
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Management’s Report on Disclosure Controls and 
Procedures (DC&P)
Disclosure controls and procedures within the Company have been designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that all relevant information is identified to the President and Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO), and Board of Directors to ensure appropriate and timely decisions are made 
regarding public disclosure.

An evaluation of the Company’s Disclosure Controls and Procedures was conducted by management under 
the supervision of the CEO and the CFO. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that 
as at December 31, 2013, our DC&P, as defined in National Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosure 
in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (NI 52-109), was effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting (ICFR)
Management, under the supervision and participation of the Company’s CEO and CFO, is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining a system of internal controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable 
assurance that assets are safeguarded and that reliable financial information is produced for preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. The Company 
uses a control framework based on the Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Due to its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements 
on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of 
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

An evaluation of the Company’s ICFR was conducted by management under the supervision of the CEO 
and the CFO. Based on this evaluation, the CEO and CFO have concluded that as at December 31, 2013, 
our ICFR, as defined in NI 52-109, was effective. There were no changes in our ICFR during the year ended 
December 31, 2013 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to affect, our ICFR.
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Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes
Management’s Report to Shareholders
To the Shareholders of Pason Systems Inc.,

The consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of management and are prepared and presented 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Financial statements will, by 
necessity, include certain amounts based on estimates and judgments. Management has determined such 
amounts on a reasonable basis so that the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly in all 
material respects. Management has ensured that financial information contained elsewhere in this Annual 
Report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

Management has prepared the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). The MD&A is based on 
the Company’s financial results prepared in accordance with IFRS. The MD&A compares the audited financial 
results for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is comprised of three independent directors, has 
discussed the consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto, with management and the 
external auditors. The Audit Committee meets regularly with management and the independent auditors to 
satisfy itself that management’s responsibilities are properly discharged, to review the consolidated financial 
statements, and to recommend approval of the financial statements to the Board. The Board of Directors 
has approved the consolidated financial statements on the recommendation of the Audit Committee.

Deloitte LLP, the independent auditors appointed by the shareholders at the last annual general meeting, 
have audited Pason Systems Inc.’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian Generally 
Accepted Auditing Standards. The independent auditors have full and unrestricted access to the Audit 
Committee to discuss the audit and their related findings as to the integrity of the financial reporting process. 
The independent auditor’s report outlines the scope of their examination and sets forth their opinion.

Marcel Kessler David Elliott

President & Chief Executive Officer
Calgary, Alberta
February 27, 2014

Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Pason Systems Inc.,

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Pason Systems Inc., which comprise 
the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidated statements of 
operations, the consolidated statements of other comprehensive income, consolidated statements of 
changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Pason Systems Inc. as at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
Calgary, Canada
February 27, 2014 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at Note* December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
(CDN 000s) ($) ($)

Assets
Current

Cash and cash equivalents 12 78,018 138,253
Cash held in trust 8 11,502 19,691
Trade and other receivables 13 87,469 84,506
Prepaid expenses 3,121 2,920
Income taxes recoverable 15,752 —
Total current assets 195,862 245,370

Non-current
Property, plant and equipment 6 183,601 174,651
Intangible assets 7 65,261 59,593
Deferred tax assets 11 1,152 8,764
Total non-current assets 250,014 243,008

Total assets 445,876 488,378
Liabilities and equity
Current

Trade payables and accruals 15 30,485 25,674
Litigation provision 20 — 19,533
Income taxes payable — 3,313
Stock-based compensation liability 8 25,942 13,788
Dividend payable 8 11,502 19,691
Total current liabilities 67,929 81,999

Non-current
Stock-based compensation liability 8 3,905 2,583
Deferred tax liabilities 11 7,573 2,600
Litigation provision 20 — 32,500
Total non-current liabilities 11,478 37,683

Equity
Share capital 8 80,725 79,393
Share-based benefits reserve 12,927 12,927
Foreign currency translation reserve 7,958 (8,348)
Retained earnings 264,859 284,724
Total equity 366,469 368,696

Total liabilities and equity 445,876 488,378
Commitments (Notes 17 and 18)
Contingencies (Note 20)

*The Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors

James B. Howe
Director

Murray Cobbe
Director
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Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended December 31, Note* 2013 2012
(CDN 000s, except per share data) ($) ($)

Revenue
Equipment rentals and sales 403,088 386,514

Operating expenses
Rental services 134,874 125,269
Local administration 18,641 19,906
Depreciation and amortization 6,7 62,171 68,213

215,686 213,388

Operating profit 187,402 173,126

Other expenses
Research and development 27,252 22,467
Corporate services 17,373 15,723
Stock-based compensation 8 32,511 23,792
Other expenses 10 68,301 51,396

145,437 113,378

Income before income taxes 41,965 59,748
Income taxes 11 18,310 19,864

Net income 23,655 39,884
Income per share 9

Basic 0.29 0.49
Diluted 0.29 0.48

*The Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Other Comprehensive Income
Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012
(CDN 000s) ($) ($)

Net income 23,655 39,884
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net income:

Foreign currency translation adjustment 16,306 (2,513)
Total comprehensive income 39,961 37,371

*The Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Note* Share Capital

Share-Based
Benefits
Reserve

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Reserve

Retained
Earnings Total Equity

(CDN 000s) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Balance at January 1, 2012 77,613 12,927 (5,835) 282,564 367,269
Net income — — — 39,884 39,884
Dividends 8 — — — (37,724) (37,724)
Other comprehensive loss — — (2,513) — (2,513)
Exercise of stock options 8 1,780 — — — 1,780

Balance at December 31, 2012 79,393 12,927 (8,348) 284,724 368,696
Net income — — — 23,655 23,655
Dividends 8 — — — (43,520) (43,520)
Other comprehensive income — — 16,306 — 16,306
Exercise of stock options 8 1,332 — — — 1,332

Balance at December 31, 2013 80,725 12,927 7,958 264,859 366,469

*The Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, Note* 2013 2012
(CDN 000s) ($) ($)

Cash from operating activities
Net income 23,655 39,884

Adjustment for non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortization 62,171 68,213
Litigation provision 20 — 32,500
Impairment loss 6 — 7,918
Stock-based compensation 8 20,656 16,067
Deferred income taxes 11 12,899 (6,019)
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 3,694 385

Funds flow from operations 123,075 158,948
Movements in non-cash working capital items:

(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables (999) 16,376
Increase in prepaid expenses (125) (994)
(Decrease) increase in income taxes (8,019) 18,072
Decrease in litigation provision 20 (52,033) —
Increase (decrease) in trade payables and accruals 5,376 (7,101)
Increase in stock-based compensation liability 2,973 2,312
Effects of exchange rate changes 3,100 1,778

Cash generated from operating activities 73,348 189,391
Income tax paid (11,301) (20,213)

Net cash from operating activities 62,047 169,178

Cash flows from (used in) financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common shares 8 1,332 1,780
Purchase of stock options 8 (10,153) (8,772)
Payment of dividends 8 (51,709) (34,413)

Net cash used in financing activities (60,530) (41,405)

Cash flows (used in) from investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment 6 (56,171) (60,284)
Deferred development costs 7 (14,493) (11,140)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6 582 586
Changes in non-cash working capital (989) (2,646)

Net cash used in investing activities (71,071) (73,484)

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents 1,130 (1,338)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (68,424) 52,951
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 157,944 104,993
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 89,520 157,944

Cash and cash equivalents consists of:

Cash and cash equivalents 12 78,018 138,253
Cash held in trust 8 11,502 19,691
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 89,520 157,944

*The Notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
($CDN 000s, except per share data)

1. Description of Business
Pason Systems Inc. (the "Company") is a leading global provider of instrumentation and data 
management systems for drilling rigs.

The Company headquarters are located at 6130 Third Street SE, Calgary, Alberta, Canada. The 
Company is a publicly traded company listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol PSI.TO. 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company are comprised of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”). The 
accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Pason Systems Inc. and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries.

2. Basis of Preparation
Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 
assets, including financial instruments, that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values, as 
explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 
consideration given in exchange for assets.

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 
February 27, 2014.

Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
liabilities for share-based payment arrangements which are measured at fair value (Note 4).

Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional currency. Financial statements of the Company’s US and International subsidiaries have a 
functional currency different from Canadian dollars and are translated to Canadian dollars using the 
exchange rate in effect at the period end date for all assets and liabilities, and at average rates of 
exchange during the period for revenues and expenses. All changes resulting from these translation 
adjustments are recognized in other comprehensive income. All financial information presented in 
Canadian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand except for per share amounts.

Change in accounting classification
In 2013, the Company changed how it discloses cash held in trust. Previously, this amount was included 
in "Cash and cash equivalents" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Effective for 2013, cash held in 
trust, representing cash held for the payment of the dividend, is separately identified as a current asset. 
The 2012 comparative financial statements have been adjusted to reflect this change in the accounting 
policy. The change results in the consolidated financial statements providing reliable and more relevant 
information.
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Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management is 
required to make judgments, estimates, and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based upon historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

Critical Accounting Judgments

Stock-based payments

The fair value of stock-based payments is calculated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. There 
are a number of estimates used in the calculation, such as the future forfeiture rate, expected option 
life, and the future price volatility of the underlying security, which can vary from actual future events. 
The factors applied in the calculation are management’s best estimates based on historical information 
and future forecasts.

Income taxes

The calculation of deferred income taxes is based on a number of assumptions, including estimating 
the future periods in which temporary differences, tax losses, and other tax credits will reverse. Tax 
interpretations, regulations, and legislation in the various jurisdictions in which the Company and its 
subsidiaries operate are subject to change.

The estimation of deferred tax assets and liabilities includes uncertainty with respect to the reversal 
of temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are recognized when it is probable that taxable income will be available against 
which the temporary differences or tax losses giving rise to the deferred tax asset can be utilized. This 
requires estimation of future taxable income and use of tax loss carry-forwards for a considerable 
period into the future. Income tax expense in future periods may be affected to the extent actual taxable 
income is not sufficient or available to use the temporary differences, giving rise to the deferred tax 
asset.

Determination of functional currency

The determination of the functional currency is a matter of determining the primary economic 
environment in which an entity operates. Pason uses judgment in the ultimate determination of each 
subsidiary’s functional currency based on factors in International Accounting Standards (IAS) 21 – The 
Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates. The functional currency of the Canadian and US 
operations were determined to be the Canadian and US dollars, respectively.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected.

Depreciation of property, plant, and equipment, and amortization of intangible assets

When calculating depreciation of property and equipment, and amortization of intangible assets, the 
Company estimates the useful lives and residual values of the related assets. The estimates made by 
management regarding the useful lives and residual values affect the carrying amounts of the property 
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and equipment and intangible assets on the balance sheet and the related depreciation and amortization 
expenses recognized in the statement of operations. Assessing the reasonableness of the estimated 
useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets requires judgment and is based on 
available information. The Company periodically, and at least annually, evaluates its depreciation and 
amortization methods and rates for consistency against those methods and rates used by its peers, 
or may revise initial estimates for changes in circumstances, such as technological advancements. A 
change in the estimated remaining useful life or the residual value will affect the depreciation or 
amortization expense prospectively.

Cash generating units (CGU)

For purposes of determining if any impairment exists, the Group has determined that each of its 
distinguishable rental systems, as a group, is a CGU. The Company uses judgments in the 
determination of the CGUs. The Company applied judgment and determined that the assets of each 
of its geographic segments are an appropriate basis for its CGUs.

Recoverable amounts of property and equipment, intangible assets, and goodwill

At each reporting period, management assesses whether there are indicators of impairment of the 
Company’s property and equipment, intangible assets, and goodwill. If an indication of impairment 
exists, the property and equipment, intangible assets, and goodwill are tested for impairment. Goodwill 
is tested for impairment at least annually. In order to determine if impairment exists and to measure 
the potential impairment charge, the carrying amounts of the Company’s CGUs are compared to their 
recoverable amounts, which is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use (VIU). An 
impairment charge is recognized to the extent the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. 
VIU is calculated as the present value of the expected future cash flows specific to each CGU. In 
calculating VIU, significant judgment is required in making assumptions with respect to discount rates, 
the market outlook, and future net cash flows associated with the CGU. Any changes in these 
assumptions will have an impact on the measurement of the recoverable amount and could result in 
adjustments to impairment charges already recorded.

Intangible assets and goodwill acquired in business combinations

Accounting for business combinations involves the allocation of the cost of an acquisition to the 
underlying net assets acquired based on estimated fair values. As part of this allocation process, the 
Company identifies and attributes values and estimated lives to identifiable intangible assets acquired. 
These determinations involve significant estimates and assumptions regarding cash flow projections, 
economic risk and the weighted average cost of capital used by a market participant. These estimates 
and assumptions determine the amount allocated to identifiable separable intangible assets and 
goodwill, as well as the amortization period for identifiable intangible assets with finite lives. If future 
events or results differ adversely from these estimates and assumptions, the Company could record 
increased amortization or impairment charges.

Provisions and contingencies

The Company recognizes provisions based on assessment of its obligations and available information. 
Any matters not included as provisions are uncertain in nature and cannot be reasonably estimated.

The Company makes assumptions to determine whether obligations exist and to estimate the amount 
of obligations that we believe exist. In estimating the final outcome of litigation, assumptions are made 
about factors including experience with similar matters, past history, precedents, relevant financial, 
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scientific, and other evidence and facts specific to the matter. This determines whether a provision or 
disclosure in the financial statements is needed.

Viability of new product development projects

New product development projects are capitalized, and include the cost of materials and direct labour 
costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. Subsequent changes in 
facts or circumstances could result in the balance of the related deferred costs expensed in profit or 
loss. Results could differ if new product development projects become unprofitable due to changes in 
technology or if actual rental rates differ materially from forecast pricing.

3. Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in these 
consolidated financial statements.

The accounting policies have been applied consistently by the Group entities.

Basis of consolidation
(a)  Business combinations

For acquisitions, the Group measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred 
less the net recognized amount, at fair value, of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed, all measured as of the acquisition date. When the excess is negative, a bargain 
purchase gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

Contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the acquisition date; subsequent 
adjustments to the consideration are recognized against the cost of the acquisition only to the 
extent that they arise from new information obtained within the measurement period (maximum 
of 12 months from the acquisition date) about the fair value at the date of acquisition. All other 
subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability are 
recognized in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that 
the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

 (b)  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until 
the date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when 
necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group. Intra-group balances and 
transactions are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising 
on acquisition, are translated to Canadian dollars at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income 
and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Canadian dollars at average period exchange 
rates.

Gains and losses arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations are 
included in the Consolidated Statements of Other Comprehensive Income, and such differences have 
been accumulated in Foreign Currency Translation Reserve. Advances made to subsidiaries for which 
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the settlement is not planned or anticipated in the foreseeable future are considered part of the net 
investment. Accordingly, unrealized gains and losses from these advances are recorded in the 
Consolidated Statements of Other Comprehensive Income.

Monetary assets and liabilities relating to foreign denominated transactions are initially recorded at the 
rate of exchange in effect at the transaction date. Gains and losses resulting from subsequent changes 
in foreign exchange rates are recorded in profit or loss for the period.

Financial instruments
(a)  Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognizes trade and other receivables on the date that they originate. All 
other financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are 
recognized initially when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial 
asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset are transferred.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the balance sheet 
when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to 
settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group has the following non-derivative financial assets: financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss and loans and receivables.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading or 
is designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial assets are designated at fair value through 
profit or loss if the Group manages such investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based 
on their fair value. Upon initial recognition, attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss 
as incurred. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes 
therein are recognized in profit or loss. The Group’s only financial asset classified as fair value through 
profit or loss is cash.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs less any impairment losses.

Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables (Note 13).

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is comprised of cash on deposit, cash held in trust, bank indebtedness and investments with 
maturities of 90 days or less at the date of investment. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand 
are included as a component of cash for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.
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 (a)  Non-derivative financial liabilities

All financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are 
recognized initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled or expire.

The Group has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: bank overdrafts and trade 
payables, accruals, and provisions. Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial 
liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Share capital
Common shares are classified as equity.

Property, plant and equipment
 (a)  Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment include parts and raw materials awaiting assembly. These assets 
are recorded at cost and no depreciation is taken.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The 
cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use and the costs 
of dismantling and removing the items.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Proprietary software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized 
as part of that equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by 
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment, and are recognized net within depreciation and amortization.

 (b)  Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the 
carrying amount of the item only when it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow 
to the Group, the economic life is greater than one year, and its cost can be measured reliably. 
The original cost and accumulated depreciation of the replaced part is removed from the 
accounts, and the net carrying amount of the replaced part is expensed. All other replacement 
costs, as well as the repair and maintenance of property, plant and equipment, are recognized 
in profit or loss as incurred.

 (c)  Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, with no 
residual value.
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Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss either on a straight-line or declining balance basis 
over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Land 
is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative year are as follows:

Straight-Line Declining Balance Rate
Rental equipment — 20%
Other 3 years —

Depreciation methods, useful lives, and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-
end and adjusted if appropriate.

 (d)  Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories 
is based on the weighted average principle, and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring 
the inventories, production, or conversion costs.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

Parts and raw materials awaiting assembly are recorded at cost in property, plant and 
equipment and no depreciation is taken.

Intangible assets
 (a)  Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price for business acquisitions over the fair value 
of the acquired net assets. Goodwill is allocated as of the date of the business acquisition.

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

 (b)  Research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or 
technical knowledge and understanding, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially 
improved products and processes. Development expenditures are capitalized only if 
development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and 
commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and 
has sufficient resources to complete development and to use the asset. The expenditure 
capitalized includes the cost of materials and direct labour costs that are directly attributable 
to preparing the asset for its intended use. Other development expenditures are recognized 
in profit or loss as incurred.

Capitalized development expenditures are measured at cost less accumulated amortization 
and accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalized development expenditures are amortized in the year in which the new products 
begin generating revenue. However, if at any time a product is deemed no longer commercially 
viable, the balance of the related deferred costs is expensed in profit or loss.
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Investment tax credits are recorded only when received, as the timing and amounts are 
dependent upon the acceptance of the claim by the respective tax authorities, and are netted 
against the related development costs.

  (c)  Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group have finite useful lives and are measured 
at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets are amortized when they are available for use on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated economic lives.

  (d)  Subsequent expenditures

Subsequent expenditures are capitalized only when they increase the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which they relate. All other expenditures, including 
expenditures on internally generated goodwill and brands, are recognized in profit or loss as 
incurred.

  (e)  Amortization

Amortization is calculated over the cost of the asset with no residual value.

The estimated useful lives for intangible assets are as follows:

Customer contracts and technology 6 years
Non-compete agreements 5 years
Distribution rights 6 years
Trademarks and software 3 years
Patents and research and development costs 3 years

Amortization methods, useful lives, and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-
end and adjusted if appropriate. 

Impairment
  (a)  Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is 
impaired if evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the 
asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that 
asset that can be reliably estimated.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes default or delinquency by a 
debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider 
otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, or the disappearance of an 
active market for a security. The Group considers evidence of impairment for receivables at 
both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant receivables are assessed 
for specific impairment. All individually significant receivables found not to be specifically 
impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet 
identified. Receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for 
impairment by grouping together receivables with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, 
timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgment as 
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to whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to 
be greater or less than suggested by historical trends.

Losses are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against 
receivables. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, 
the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

  (b)  Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 
Judgments and assessments are made to determine whether an event has occurred that 
indicates a possible impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that 
are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year.

For purposes of determining if any impairment exists, the Group has determined that each of 
its distinguishable rental systems, as a group, is a CGU. The recoverable amount of an asset 
or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested 
individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups 
of assets, referred to as the CGU.

For goodwill impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to 
the group of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. This 
allocation is subject to an operating segment ceiling test and reflects the lowest level at which 
that goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes.

The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication 
that a corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the 
CGU to which the corporate asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment 
losses recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in 
the unit on a pro-rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment 
losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that 
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been 
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment 
loss had been recognized.
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Employee benefits
 (a) Stock option plan

The Company’s stock option plan allows qualified employees and directors to elect to receive 
either a cash settlement or common shares in exchange for stock options exercised, subject 
to approval by the Board of Directors.

The grant date fair value of stock option awards granted is recognized as compensation 
expense, over the graded vesting period of three years, with a corresponding increase in a 
liability, as the benefit is expected to be settled in cash.

The grant date fair value is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the 
fair value is remeasured at each reporting period.

Any consideration received on the exercise of stock options for common shares is credited to 
share capital.

  (b)  Restricted share unit (RSU) plan and Phantom Stock Full Value (PSFV) plan

The Company has an RSU and a PSFV plan for qualified employees whereby holders receive 
a cash settlement based upon the number of outstanding units multiplied by the prevailing 
market price of the Company’s common shares on the vesting date. A liability is accrued and 
adjusted each quarter based upon the current market price of the Company’s common shares.

Compensation expense for the plans is accrued on a graded basis over the respective three-
year vesting period.

Any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognized in profit or loss.

  (c)  Deferred share unit (DSU) plan

The Company has a DSU plan for non-management directors. The DSUs are granted annually 
and represent rights to share values based on the number of DSUs issued. When a DSU 
holder ceases to be a member of the Board, the holder is entitled to receive a cash settlement 
based upon the number of outstanding DSUs multiplied by the prevailing market price of the 
Company’s common shares on the redemption date. A DSU liability is accrued and adjusted 
each quarter on vested DSUs based upon the current market price of the Company’s common 
shares.

Compensation expense for the DSU plan is accrued evenly over the respective one-year 
vesting period.

Any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognized in profit or loss.

Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be reliably estimated, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation.

Revenue
Revenue is recognized during the reporting period based on completion of each rental day for products 
and services, provided collectability is reasonably assured. Equipment sales are recognized in revenue 
upon shipment from the Company’s warehouse to the customer.
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Lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease.

Finance income, finance costs, and foreign exchange
Finance income comprises interest income on excess funds invested. Interest income is recognized 
as it accrues in profit or loss.

Finance costs include interest expense on bank borrowing and changes in the fair value of financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss, and impairment losses recognized on financial assets.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis.

Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized 
in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or to items recognized 
directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred 
tax is not recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit 
or loss, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent 
that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not 
recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax 
is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities 
and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net 
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits, and deductible temporary 
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available to use unused 
tax losses and unused tax credits. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and the 
valuation allowance is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realized.

Dividends
Dividends on common shares are recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the 
period in which the Board of Directors approves the dividend.

Income per share
The Group presents basic and diluted income per share data for its common shares. Basic income 
per share is calculated by dividing the net income or loss available to common shareholders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted 
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income per share is determined by adjusting the net income or loss available to common shareholders 
and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted for the effects of all dilutive 
potential common shares, which comprise stock options granted.

Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it 
may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions 
with any of the Group’s other components. All operating segments’ results are reviewed regularly by 
the Group’s senior management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment 
and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that 
can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, costs 
that benefit more than one operating unit which cannot be reasonably allocated, and amounts relating 
to current and deferred taxes as these amounts can be impacted by tax strategies implemented at the 
corporate level that benefit the Group as a whole.

Segment capital expenditures are the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets other than goodwill.

Standards and interpretations adopted in the year ended December 31, 2013
IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it has 
power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 
investee, and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Under existing 
IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12, Consolidation 
- Special Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements.

IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures. IFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of 
which two or more parties have joint control should be classified. SIC 13, Jointly Controlled Entities - 
Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers, will be withdrawn upon the effective date of IFRS 11. Under 
IFRS 11, joint arrangements are classified as joint operations or joint ventures, depending on the rights 
and obligations of the parties to the arrangements. In contrast, under IAS 31, there are three types of 
joint arrangements: jointly controlled entities, jointly controlled assets, and jointly controlled operations. 
In addition, joint ventures under IFRS 11 are required to be accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting, whereas jointly controlled entities under lAS 31 can be accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting or proportional consolidation.

IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, establishes disclosure requirements for interests in 
other entities, such as subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates, and unconsolidated structured 
entities. The standard carries forward existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional 
disclosure that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities.

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, is a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and 
disclosure for use across all IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that 
would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants, at the measurement date. IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2013.
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There have been amendments to existing standards, including IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements 
(IAS 27), and IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (IAS 28). IAS 27 addresses 
accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, and associates in non-consolidated financial 
statements. IAS 28 has been amended to include joint ventures in its scope and to address the changes 
in IFRS 10–13.

Future Accounting Policy Changes
The Company has not applied the following new and revised IFRS standards that have been issued 
but are not yet effective. Unless otherwise indicated, based upon current facts and circumstances, the 
Company does not expect to be materially affected by the application of the following standards and 
is currently determining which date(s) it plans for initial compliance.

In May 2013, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 36 "Impairment of Assets" which reduce the 
circumstances in which the recoverable amount of CGUs is required to be disclosed and clarify the 
disclosures required when an impairment loss has been recognized or reversed in the period. The 
amendments are required to be adopted retrospectively for fiscal years beginning January 1, 2014, 
with earlier adoption permitted. These amendments will be applied by Pason on January 1, 2014 and 
the adoption will only impact Pason's disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
in periods when an impairment loss or impairment reversal is recognized.

In May 2013, the IASB issued IFRIC 21 "Levies," which was developed by the IFRS Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC). IFRIC 21 clarifies that an entity recognizes a liability for a levy when the activity 
that triggers payment, as identified by the relevant legislation, occurs. The interpretation also clarifies 
that no liability should be recognized before the specified minimum threshold to trigger that levy is 
reached. IFRIC 21 is required to be adopted retrospectively for fiscal years beginning January 1, 2014, 
with earlier adoption permitted. IFRIC 21 will be applied by Pason on January 1, 2014 and the adoption 
may have an impact on Pason’s accounting for production and similar taxes, which do not meet the 
definition of an income tax in IAS 12 "Income Taxes." Pason is currently assessing and quantifying the 
effect on its consolidated financial statements.

The IASB has undertaken a three-phase project to replace IAS 39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement" with IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments." In November 2009, the IASB issued the first 
phase of IFRS 9, which details the classification and measurement requirements for financial assets. 
Requirements for financial liabilities were added to the standard in October 2010. The new standard 
replaces the current multiple classification and measurement models for financial assets and liabilities 
with a single model that has only two classification categories: amortized cost and fair value.

In November 2013, the IASB issued the third phase of IFRS 9 which details the new general hedge 
accounting model. Hedge accounting remains optional and the new model is intended to allow reporters 
to better reflect risk management activities in the financial statements and provide more opportunities 
to apply hedge accounting. Pason does not employ hedge accounting for its risk management contracts 
currently in place. In July 2013, the IASB deferred the mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 and has left 
this date open pending the finalization of the impairment and classification and measurement 
requirements. IFRS 9 is still available for early adoption. The full impact of the standard on Pason's 
consolidated financial statements will not be known until the project is complete.
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4. Determination of Fair Values
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, 
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for 
measurement or disclosure purposes based on the methods below. When applicable, further 
information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific 
to that asset or liability.

Property, plant and equipment
The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognized as a result of a business combination is 
based on market values. The best value in use  of property is the estimated amount for which a property 
could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s 
length transaction. The fair value of items of rental equipment, plants, and fixtures is based on either 
the market approach or revaluation approach using quoted market prices for similar items when 
available and replacement cost when appropriate.

Intangible assets
The fair value of customer relationships acquired in a business combination is determined using the 
multi-period excess earnings method, whereby the subject asset is valued after deducting a fair return 
on all other assets that are part of creating the related cash flows.

The fair value of other intangible assets is based on the discounted cash flows expected to be derived 
from the use of the assets.

Share-based payment transactions
Employee stock options are valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, while RSUs and 
DSUs are measured using the fair value method. Measurement inputs for Black-Scholes include the 
share price on measurement date, the exercise price of the instrument, the expected volatility (based 
on weighted average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available 
information), the weighted average expected life of the instruments (based on historical experience), 
the expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) and estimated 
forfeiture rates.

Fair value is measured as the fair market price of the Company’s common shares.
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5. Operating Segments
The Group has three reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business 
units. The strategic business units offer the same services, but are managed separately. For each of 
the strategic business units, the Group’s senior management reviews internal management reports on 
a monthly basis.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is 
measured based on operating profit as included in the internal management reports. Operating profit 
is used to measure performance, as management believes that such information is the most relevant 
in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries. 
Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis.

The Company operates in three geographic segments: Canada, the United States, and International 
(Latin America, Offshore, the Eastern Hemisphere, and the Middle East). The amounts related to each 
segment are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Canada United States International Total
($) ($) ($) ($)

Revenue 126,622 231,960 44,506 403,088
Operating costs 37,116 88,697 27,702 153,515
Depreciation and amortization 26,088 29,366 6,717 62,171
Segment operating profit 63,418 113,897 10,087 187,402
Research and development 27,252
Corporate services 17,373
Stock-based compensation 32,511
Other expenses 68,301
Income taxes 18,310
Net income 23,655
Capital expenditures 37,709 26,101 6,854 70,664
Goodwill — 19,685 2,600 22,285
Intangible assets 32,343 7,773 2,860 42,976
Segment assets 173,947 210,764 61,165 445,876
Segment liabilities 46,495 23,621 9,291 79,407

Year Ended December 31, 2012

Revenue 125,738 223,054 37,722 386,514
Operating costs 36,291 85,811 23,073 145,175
Depreciation and amortization 26,964 32,381 8,868 68,213
Segment operating profit 62,483 104,862 5,781 173,126
Research and development 22,467
Corporate services 15,723
Stock-based compensation 23,792
Other expenses 51,396
Income taxes 19,864
Net income 39,884
Capital expenditures 25,682 37,850 7,892 71,424
Goodwill — 18,414 2,600 21,014
Intangible assets 25,583 9,711 3,285 38,579
Segment assets 182,458 241,391 64,529 488,378
Segment liabilities 96,780 13,120 9,782 119,682
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6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

          

Parts and Raw
Materials

Rental
Equipment Other Total

($) ($) ($) ($)

Property, plant and equipment
Balance at January 1, 2012 11,128 381,600 50,884 443,612
Additions 24,658 25,203 8,779 58,640
Disposals (3,000) (45,471) (1,799) (50,270)
Parts and raw materials consumed (23,527) 23,527 — —
Effects of exchange rate changes 253 (3,959) (677) (4,383)
Balance at December 31, 2012 9,512 380,900 57,187 447,599
Additions 40,582 8,423 6,963 55,968
Disposals (39) (26,921) (2,911) (29,871)
Parts and raw materials consumed (38,842) 38,842 — —
Effects of exchange rate changes 245 13,998 1,604 15,847
Balance at December 31, 2013 11,458 415,242 62,843 489,543

Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2012 — 235,443 25,162 260,605
Provisions — 42,754 6,339 49,093
Disposals — (37,351) (1,100) (38,451)
Impairment loss recognized in income — 6,517 1,401 7,918
Effects of exchange rate changes — (6,010) (207) (6,217)
Balance at December 31, 2012 — 241,353 31,595 272,948
Provisions — 39,991 7,025 47,016
Disposals — (21,671) (2,872) (24,543)
Effects of exchange rate changes — 9,779 742 10,521
Balance at December 31, 2013 — 269,452 36,490 305,942
Carrying Amounts
At December 31, 2012 9,512 139,547 25,592 174,651
At December 31, 2013 11,458 145,790 26,353 183,601

Other property, plant, and equipment includes computer equipment, leasehold improvements, and vehicles.

Water Treatment Assets
During 2012 the Company continued its strategic review of its ongoing investment in the water treatment 
business in the US. 

Part of this process involved re-evaluating its investment in Auxsol Inc. (Auxsol), the US-based water 
treatment subsidiary. In 2012, the Company made a formal decision to dispose of the water treatment facility 
owned by Auxsol. As a result of the continuing decline in throughput at the plant, it became apparent that 
the remaining book value could not be realized. As a result, a non-cash impairment loss of $3,236 was 
recorded in 2012. The remaining book value of the facility had been included in current assets in the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2012. The facility was disposed of in early 2013 and proceeds 
equaled the carrying value.

Torque and Tension Sub
In 2012, the Company initiated the roll-out of a new rental product, the Torque and Tension Sub (TTS), which 
is part of the Company’s rental equipment fleet. Initial field trials were promising; the TTS was able to provide 
measurements that were more accurate than indirect readings. However, due to a number of complications, 
customer acceptance and the resulting revenue was lower than the Company initially anticipated. As a 
result, the Company made the decision in the fourth quarter of 2012 to alter its business model. As a result 
of this change, the Company identified raw materials that were no longer required and a portion of the TTS 
accessories became obsolete, which led the Company to record a non-cash charge of $4,682 in the fourth 
quarter of 2012. 
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Disposal of Assets
Included in depreciation and amortization expense are losses on the disposal of assets and inventory 
obsolescence reserves in the amount of $5,572 (2012: $9,911) for the year ended December 31, 2013.

7. Intangible Assets

Goodwill
Research &

Development Technology
Distribution

Rights Other Total
($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Intangible assets
Balance at January 1, 2012 21,907 28,432 11,256 17,351 5,007 83,953
Internally developed — 11,140 — — — 11,140
Additions — — — — 400 400
Acquisitions — — — — 1,244 1,244
Effects of exchange rate (419) — (245) (66) (39) (769)
Balance at December 31, 2012 21,488 39,572 11,011 17,285 6,612 95,968
Internally developed — 15,508 — — — 15,508
Investment tax credits received — (1,015) — — — (1,015)
Additions — — — — 203 203
Dispositions — — (1,963) — (47) (2,010)
Effects of exchange rate 1,303 — 737 316 206 2,562
Balance at December 31, 2013 22,791 54,065 9,785 17,601 6,974 111,216

Amortization
Balance at January 1, 2012 484 11,774 4,572 4,703 4,349 25,882
Amortization — 4,844 2,488 2,957 383 10,672
Effects of exchange rate (10) — (110) (36) (23) (179)
Balance at December 31, 2012 474 16,618 6,950 7,624 4,709 36,375
Amortization — 7,167 1,370 2,360 199 11,096
Dispositions — — (1,963) — — (1,963)
Effects of exchange rate 32 — 500 (174) 89 447
Balance at December 31, 2013 506 23,785 6,857 9,810 4,997 45,955
Carrying amounts

At December 31, 2012 21,014 22,954 4,061 9,661 1,903 59,593
At December 31, 2013 22,285 30,280 2,928 7,791 1,977 65,261

Other intangible assets include mostly software costs, non-controlling equity interest in a software 
development company, customer contracts, and non-compete agreements.

Intangible Assets with Indefinite Lives and Goodwill
The carrying value of intangible assets with indefinite lives and goodwill are regularly tested for 
impairment. In assessing these assets for impairment at December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company 
compared the aggregate recoverable amount of the assets included in the respective CGUs in the US 
and International segment to their respective carrying amounts.

The recoverable amount has been determined based on the value in use of the CGUs using cash flow 
budgets approved by management. There is a degree of uncertainty with respect to the estimates of 
the recoverable amounts of the CGU's assets due in part to the necessity of making key assumptions 
about the future economic environment that the company will operate in. The value in use calculations 
use discounted cash flow projections, which require key assumptions, including future cash flows, 
projected growth, and pre-tax discount rates. The Company considers a range of reasonable 
possibilities to use for these key assumptions and decides upon the amounts to use that represent 
management’s best estimates.
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For periods beyond the budget period, cash flows were extrapolated using growth rates that do not 
exceed the long-term average for these segments.

Key assumptions are as follows:

United States International
(%) (%)

Budgeted EBITDA margin 33 35
Weighted average growth rate 2 2
Perpetuity growth rate 2.5 2.5
Pre-tax discount rate 15 15

For both operating segments, reasonable possible changes in key assumptions would not cause the 
recoverable amount of goodwill to fall below the carrying value. If future events cause a significant 
change in the operating environment of these business units, resulting in key operating metrics differing 
from management’s estimates, the Company could potentially experience future material impairment 
charges against the intangible assets with indefinite lives and goodwill.

8. Share Capital
Common Shares

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012

($) (#) ($) (#)

Balance, beginning of year 79,393 82,049 77,613 81,904
Exercise of stock options 1,332 109 1,780 145
Balance, end of year 80,725 82,158 79,393 82,049

Common shares

At December 31, 2013, the Company was authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares 
and an unlimited number of preferred shares, issuable in series.

The holders of common shares are entitled to receive dividends, as declared, and are entitled to one 
vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s 
residual assets.

Stock option plan

The Group has a stock option plan that entitles qualified employees and directors to purchase shares 
in the Company. Options, which are issued at market price, vest over three years and expire after five 
years.
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At December 31, 2013, 4,597 (2012: 4,854) stock options were outstanding for common shares at 
exercise prices ranging from $10.99 to $22.95 per share, expiring between 2014 and 2018 as follows:

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Share Options

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price Share Options

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
(#) ($) (#) ($)

Outstanding, beginning of year 4,854 13.80 6,240 12.43
Granted 1,351 22.95 1,379 16.61
Equity settled (109) 12.28 (145) 12.27
Cash settled (1,408) 12.69 (2,313) 11.99
Expired or forfeited (91) 14.52 (307) 12.92

Outstanding, end of year 4,597 16.85 4,854 13.80
Exercisable, end of year 1,854 13.70 1,898 12.46
Available for grant, end of year 3,619 3,351

The Company purchased the following number of options from employees and directors:

Years ended December 31, 2013 2012
Options (#) 1,408 2,313
Consideration ($) 10,153 8,772

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2013:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise
Prices

Options
Outstanding

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Exercisable

(Vested)

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
($) (#) (Years) ($) (#) ($)

10.99 – 13.62 1,284 2.64 12.31 773 12.15
13.63 – 19.81 1,965 3.18 15.64 1,081 14.81
19.82 – 22.95 1,348 4.91 22.95 — —

4,597 3.54 16.85 1,854 13.70

The total number of options outstanding at any given time must not exceed 10% of the total common 
shares outstanding.

All stock options are accounted for using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

Weighted average assumptions, which are revalued at the end of each reporting date, for options 
granted in the year are as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012
Fair value of stock options ($) 8.25 5.38
Forfeiture rate (%) 11.56 11.95
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.42 1.25
Expected option life (years) 3.42 3.45
Expected volatility (%) 25.93 34.52
Expected annual dividends per share (%) 2.44 2.80
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Restricted share units plan

At December 31, 2013, 777 (2012: 878) RSUs were outstanding. All RSUs vest over three years and 
will result in a cash payment to holders based upon the corresponding future market value of the 
Company’s common shares. Stock-based compensation expense arising from the RSU plan of $10,879 
(2012: $7,271) was recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations under stock-based 
compensation. The corresponding liability is recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The outstanding RSUs can be summarized as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012
(#) (#)

RSUs, beginning of year 878 797
Granted 324 474
Vested and paid (391) (335)
Forfeited (34) (58)
RSUs, end of year 777 878

Deferred share units plan

The DSUs are awarded annually and represent rights to share values based on the number of DSUs 
issued. DSUs are credited evenly following the year in which they are awarded. DSUs vest and are 
paid upon the retirement of the Director. There were 62 DSUs credited as at December 31, 2013 (2012: 
27). Stock-based compensation expense arising from the DSU plan of $976 (2012: $454) was recorded 
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations under stock-based compensation. The corresponding 
liability is recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The outstanding DSUs can be summarized as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012
(#) (#)

DSUs, beginning of year 27 —
Credited 35 27
DSUs, end of year 62 27

Stock-based compensation expense and liability

The stock option, RSU, and DSU plans can be summarized as follows:

Expense

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012
($) ($)

Stock options 20,656 16,067
RSUs 10,879 7,271
DSUs 976 454
Stock-based compensation 32,511 23,792
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Liability

As at December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
($) ($)

Stock options 21,447 11,020
RSUs 4,495 2,768
Current portion of stock-based compensation liability 25,942 13,788
Stock options 1,042 966
RSUs 1,433 1,163
DSUs 1,430 454
Long-term portion of stock-based compensation liability 3,905 2,583
Total stock-based compensation liability 29,847 16,371

Common share dividends
The Company changed its dividend policy whereby, effective for 2013, the Company adopted a quarterly 
dividend to replace the semi-annual dividend. During 2013, the Company declared dividends of $43,520 
(2012: $37,724) or $0.53 per common share (2012: $0.46). Of this amount, $11,502 (2012: $19,691)
is payable at year-end, and the Company transferred these funds to the transfer agent to be held in 
trust until the dividend payment was made in January 2014.

9. Income Per Share
Basic income per share
The calculation of basic income per share was based on the following weighted average number of 
common shares:

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012

(#) (#)

Issued common shares outstanding, beginning of year 82,049 81,948
Effect of exercised options 49 20
Weighted average number of common shares for the year 82,098 81,968

For the year ended December 31, 2013, 109 (2012: 145) common shares were issued as a result of 
the exercise of vested options. Options were exercised at an average price of $12.28 per option. All 
issued shares are fully paid.

Diluted income per share
The calculation of diluted income per share was based on a weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding after adjustment for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares calculated 
as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012

(#) (#)

Weighted average number of common shares (basic) 82,098 81,968
Effect of share options 649 711
Weighted average number of common shares (diluted) 82,747 82,679
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Options are excluded from the above calculation if their effect would have been anti-dilutive. The 
average market value of the Company’s shares for purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share 
options was based on quoted market prices for the period during which the options were outstanding.

10. Other Expenses
Years Ended December 31, Note 2013 2012

($) ($)

Litigation provision 20 61,614 37,913
Foreign exchange loss 2,175 4,573
Earn-out provision 3,071 —
Impairment loss 6 — 7,918
Other 1,441 992
Other expenses 68,301 51,396

Part of the 2009 purchase of Petron was an earn-out clause that was conditional on the successful 
commercialization of a revenue stream generated from a product designed by Petron. There had been 
some uncertainty around whether an amount would be due to the former shareholders of Petron. 
Management concluded in the third quarter of 2013 that an amount was owing and the Company and 
previous shareholders of Petron agreed to $3.1 million. The payment was made in the fourth quarter 
of 2013.

11. Income Tax
The major components of income tax expense are as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012

($) ($)

Current tax expense 5,411 25,883
Deferred tax expense (recovery) 12,899 (6,019)
Total tax expense 18,310 19,864

The provision for income taxes, including deferred taxes, reflects an effective income tax rate that 
differs from the actual combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory rates of 25% for both 2013 
and 2012. The Company’s US subsidiaries are subject to federal and state statutory tax rates of 
approximately 40%. The main differences are as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012

($) ($)

Income before income taxes 41,965 59,748
Expected income tax at statutory rate 10,491 14,937
Increase (decrease) resulting from:

Tax rates in other jurisdictions 981 725
Non-taxable dividends (3,527) (3,365)
Non-deductible portion of stock-based compensation 5,106 5,124
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes and other items 5,259 2,443
Income tax expense 18,310 19,864
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised of the following:

As at December 31, 2013 2012

($) ($)

Tax loss carry-forwards 15,413 24,479
Inter-company transactions 8,182 1,153
Share-based payments 1,691 2,535
Provisions — 8,100
Other 2,600 2,047
Property, plant and equipment (29,526) (26,287)
Intangible assets (4,781) (5,863)

(6,421) 6,164

Deferred tax asset 1,152 8,764
Deferred tax liability (7,573) (2,600)

(6,421) 6,164

All deferred taxes are classified as non-current, irrespective of the classification of the underlying assets 
or liabilities to which they relate, or the expected reversal of the temporary difference. In addition, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same 
taxable entity.

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows:

As at

Tax loss
carry

forwards

Inter-
company

transactions

Share-
based

payments Provisions Other

Property,
plant and

equipment
Intangible

assets Total

($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

January 1, 2012 5,792 20,967 1,475 — 700 (20,901) (7,417) 616
Recognized in
income 19,405 (20,027) 1,060 8,100 1,347 (5,399) 1,533 6,019
Exchange differences (718) 213 — — — 13 21 (471)

December 31, 2012 24,479 1,153 2,535 8,100 2,047 (26,287) (5,863) 6,164
Recognized in
income (10,676) 6,729 (844) (8,100) 490 (1,767) 1,269 (12,899)
Exchange differences 1,610 300 — — 63 (1,472) (187) 314

December 31, 2013 15,413 8,182 1,691 — 2,600 (29,526) (4,781) (6,421)

The Company has available US net operating losses of USD $35,168, which includes timing differences 
relating to inter-company transactions that have been accrued for but are not deductible for tax purposes 
until paid. These losses, the benefit of which has been recognized in the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, can be used to reduce future income taxes otherwise payable, and expire between 2028 
and 2032.
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12. Cash and Cash Equivalents
As at December 31, 2013 2012

($) ($)

Cash 54,030 54,928
Cash equivalents 23,988 83,325
Cash and cash equivalents 78,018 138,253

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities 
is disclosed in Note 16.

13. Trade and Other Receivables
As at December 31, 2013 2012

($) ($)

Trade receivables, net of allowances for doubtful accounts 82,187 80,310
Other receivables 5,282 4,196

87,469 84,506

All trade and other receivables are classified as current assets.

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risks, and impairment losses related to trade and other 
receivables, is disclosed in Note 16.

14. Credit Facility
The Company has a $5.0 demand revolving credit facility. Interest is payable monthly and is based on 
either the lender’s prime rate, US base rate loans, Bankers’ Acceptance rates, or the London Inter-
Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR), plus applicable margins.

The credit facility is used by the Company for working capital purposes, and accordingly, amounts 
drawn against it are recorded as bank indebtedness offset by any excess cash balances.

The Company can repay, without penalty, advances under the facility. The facility is secured by a 
general security agreement on all of the assets of the Company, Pason Systems Corp. and Pason 
Systems USA Corp.

Throughout the reporting year, no amounts were drawn on this facility.

The Company is subject to the following financial covenants:

• To maintain, on a consolidated basis, to be measured as at the end of each fiscal quarter, a ratio 
of debt to income before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, and impairment losses 
(EBITDA), calculated on a rolling four quarters basis for the fiscal quarter then ended and the 
immediately preceding three fiscal quarters of not greater than 1.50:1.

• To maintain an EBITDA for Pason Systems Corp. plus Pason Systems USA of not less than 
80% of consolidated EBITDA.

Both covenants have been met throughout the reporting period.
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15. Trade Payables, Accruals and Provisions
As at December 31, Note 2013 2012

($) ($)

Trade payables 13,595 13,280
Non-trade payables and accrued expenses 16,890 12,394

30,485 25,674
Litigation provision 20 — 52,033

30,485 77,707

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in 
Note 16.

16. Financial Risk Management and Financial Instruments Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• Credit risk

• Liquidity risk

• Market and foreign exchange risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.

Risk management framework
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework. The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the 
risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to 
limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions 
and the Group’s activities.

Credit risk

(a) Trade and other receivables

Credit risk refers to the possibility that a customer will fail to meet its contractual obligations. Credit 
risk arises from the Company’s accounts receivable balances, which are predominantly with 
customers who explore for and develop oil and natural gas reserves in Canada and the United States. 
The Company has a process in place which assesses the creditworthiness of its customers as well 
as monitoring the age and balances outstanding on an ongoing basis. In addition, the Company’s 
services are a minor component when looking at the overall cost of drilling a well, reducing credit risk 
accordingly. Payment terms with customers are 30 days from invoice date; however, industry practice 
can extend these terms.

The Group does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables.

The Group establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of incurred 
losses in respect of trade receivables. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss 
component that relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss component 
established for groups of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet 
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identified. The collective doubtful accounts allowance is determined based on historical data of 
payment statistics for similar financial assets.

  (b) Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

As at December 31, 2013 2012

($) ($)

Trade and other receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
87,469 84,506

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables at the reporting date by 
geographic region was:

As at December 31, 2013 2012

($) ($)

Canada 26,043 25,282
United States 47,084 47,766
International 14,342 11,458

87,469 84,506

  (c) Allowance for doubtful accounts

The aging of trade and other receivables at the reporting date was:

As at December 31, 2013 2012

Gross Allowance Gross Allowance
($) ($) ($) ($)

Current 56,981 (8) 64,177 (2)
31–60 days 19,136 (32) 14,024 —
61–90 days 7,960 (34) 4,722 (9)
Greater than 90 days 5,502 (2,036) 2,927 (1,333)

89,579 (2,110) 85,850 (1,344)

The movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts in respect of trade and other receivables during 
the year was as follows:

As at December 31, 2013 2012

($) ($)

Opening balance 1,344 944
  Additions to provision 1,640 642
  Accounts collected, previously allowed for (283) —
  Write-off of uncollectible accounts (614) (216)
  Effects of exchange rate changes 23 (26)
Ending balance 2,110 1,344

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due. This 
is achieved through maintaining a strong working capital position, including significant cash balances.
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The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and 
excluding the impact of netting agreements.

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of the Company and aggregated in head office, 
which monitors rolling forecasts of the Company’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to 
meet operational needs at all times. Such forecasting takes into consideration the Company’s debt financing 
plans and compliance with internal balance sheet ratio targets.

Surplus cash held by the operating entities over and above balances required for working capital 
management are invested in interest bearing short-term deposits which are selected with appropriate 
maturities or sufficient liquidity to provide sufficient room as determined by the above-mentioned forecasts.

December 31, 2013

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flows

6 months
or less

6–12
months 1–2 years 2–5 years

More than
5 years

($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Non-derivative liabilities:
Trade payables and accruals 30,485 30,485 30,485 — — — —
Stock-based compensation 29,847 29,847 25,942 — 3,905 — —

60,332 60,332 56,427 — 3,905 — —

For trade payables and accruals, it is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis 
could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly different amounts.

For stock-based compensation liabilities, the timing and amounts could differ significantly as a result of 
changes in the Company’s share price.

Market and foreign exchange risk
The Group has not entered into any hedging arrangements.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk relates to the US dollar and Mexican peso is as follows:

As at December 31, 2013 2012

USD USD

Cash 32,738 118,058
Trade and other receivables 46,158 49,327
Trade payables, accruals and other provisions (12,504) (8,425)
Balance sheet exposure 66,392 158,960
CDN$ Equivalent 70,615 158,150

As at December 31, 2013 2012

PESO PESO

Cash 2,537 268
Trade and other receivables 19,153 25,876
Trade payables, accruals and other provisions (18,599) (22,069)
Balance sheet exposure 3,091 4,075
CDN$ Equivalent 251 310

  (a) Sensitivity analysis

A strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the US dollar by 1% at December 31, 2013 would 
have decreased net income and equity for the year by $17 and $3,945, respectively. This analysis 
is based on foreign currency exchange rate variance that the Group considered to be reasonably 
possible at the end of the reporting year. The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 
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A weakening of the Canadian dollar at December 31, 2013 would have had the equal but opposite 
effect.

  (b) Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to changes in interest rates with respect to its credit facility. Management 
believes this risk to be minor given the small amounts drawn on the facility.

  (c) Fair values versus carrying amounts

The carrying values of financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair value due to the short-
term nature of these items.

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of three levels in the fair value 
hierarchy according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

• Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly 
or indirectly.

• Level 3 - Inputs that are not based on observable market data.

Financial Assets at Fair Value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 December 31, 2013

($) ($) ($) ($)

Cash and cash equivalents 78,018 — — 78,018
Cash held in trust 11,502 — — 11,502
Total financial assets at fair value 89,520 — — 89,520

  (d) Capital risk

The Company's strategy is to carry a flexible capital base to maintain investor, market, and creditor 
confidence and to sustain future business development opportunities. The Company manages its 
capital structure based on ongoing changes in economic conditions and related risk characteristics 
of its underlying assets.

The Company considers its capital structure to include equity and working capital. To maintain or 
adjust the capital structure, the Company may, from time to time, issue or repurchase shares, adjust 
its dividend rate, or adjust its capital spending to manage its cash.

The Company's share capital is not subject to external restrictions; however, the Company’s 
committed revolving credit facility includes financial covenants, with which the Company was 
compliant.

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year.

As the Group has no debt, a debt to capital ratio is not presented.

  (e) Industry and seasonality risk

The major area of uncertainty for the Company is that the demand for its services is directly related 
to the strength of its customers’ capital expenditure programs. The level of capital programs is strongly 
affected by the level and stability of commodity prices, which can be extremely difficult to predict and 
beyond the control of the Company and its customers. During periods of uncertainty, oil and gas 
companies tend to bias their capital decisions on conservative outlooks for commodity prices.
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In addition to the cyclical nature of its business, the Company is also subject to risks and uncertainties 
associated with weather and seasonality. The Company continues to react to unfavourable weather 
conditions and spring breakup, which limit well access in Canada, through diversification into 
geographic regions such as the United States and internationally, where these factors are less likely 
to influence activity.

17. Operating Leases
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

As at December 31, 2013 2012

($) ($)

Less than one year 3,203 3,266
Between one and three years 4,868 5,199
More than three years 11,580 11,968

19,651 20,433

Contractual obligations relate to minimum future lease payments required primarily for operating leases for 
certain facilities and vehicles.

The Company is committed to an outsourcing agreement with a supplier to assist its software development 
team. Either party can terminate the agreement with six months’ notice. The annual costs are anticipated 
to be approximately $7.0 million, and this amount is not included in the table above because of the termination 
clause.

18. Capital Commitments
At December 31, 2013, the Group has entered into contracts to purchase property, plant and equipment for 
$21,953, the majority of which relates to the purchase of rental assets in the normal course of business.

19. Related Parties
Transactions with key management personnel and directors

In addition to salaries and director fees, as applicable, the Group also provides compensation to executive 
officers and directors under the Group’s stock option, and the RSU and DSU programs (Note 8).

Executive management personnel and director compensation is comprised of:

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012

($) ($)

Compensation, including bonuses 4,941 5,709
Share-based payments 9,985 7,538

14,926 13,247

The majority of these costs are included either in corporate services or stock-based compensation expense 
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Key management and directors of the Company control approximately 19% of the voting shares of the 
Company. No balances are owing from any employees or directors.
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20. Contingencies
Patent Litigation
Since 2003, the Company had been defending its position in three patent infringement lawsuits relating 
to its automatic driller product. The three separate lawsuits all alleged that the Company’s automatic 
driller infringed a certain patent which expired on April 19, 2013. Pason had been defending its position 
on the grounds that the asserted claims in the patent were invalid and that in any event the Pason 
automatic driller does not infringe any of the claims of the patent.

In August 2013, the Company and the plaintiff in the litigation negotiated a final resolution and settlement 
to all three of these cases, totaling USD $112,000. As a result of this settlement and license agreement, 
the Company recorded an additional provision in its consolidated financial statements in 2013. The 
payment required to resolve all claims against the Company regarding this matter was made in the 
fourth quarter of 2013.

The activity in the provision for patent infringement account was as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2013 2012

($) ($)

Balance, beginning of year 52,033 14,543
Provision 61,614 37,913
Foreign exchange adjustment 3,975 (423)
Payment (117,622) —
Balance, end of year — 52,033

Other Litigation
The Company is involved in various claims and litigation arising in the normal course of business. 
While the outcome of these matters is uncertain and there can be no assurance that such matters will 
be resolved in Pason’s favour, the Company does not currently believe that the outcome of any pending 
or threatened proceedings related to these or other matters, or the amounts which the Company may 
be required to pay by reason thereof, would individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse 
impact on its financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

21. Events After the Reporting Period
On February 27, 2014, the Company announced a quarterly dividend of $0.15 per share on the 
Company’s common shares. The dividend will be paid on April 1, 2014 to shareholders of record at 
the close of business on March 14, 2014.
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22. Organizational Structure
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Historical Review

Selected Financial Data
Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
(CDN 000s, except per share data) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Operating Results
Revenue 403,088 386,514 346,158 260,397 153,823 300,484 236,439 240,584 175,747 122,212
Expenses

Rental services 134,874 125,269 113,568 94,299 72,428 106,600 83,058 72,933 52,193 38,422
Corporate services 17,373 15,723 12,975 17,770 11,611 13,250 12,708 6,699 4,076 3,062
Research and development 27,252 22,467 17,366 16,472 13,140 12,888 9,566 8,255 6,379 4,995
Stock-based compensation 32,511 23,792 1,309 11,233 5,684 7,525 5,248 4,597 2,595 1,290
Depreciation and amortization 62,171 68,213 58,565 49,108 55,842 55,719 42,797 39,923 27,198 18,992

EBITDA(1) 136,647 151,753 171,661 110,867 46,651 144,883 128,088 143,238 106,677 72,154
As a % of revenue 33.9 39.3 49.6 47.1 32.0 49.5 54.2 59.5 60.7 59.0
Per share-basic 1.66 1.85 2.10 1.44 0.57 1.78 1.61 1.84 1.40 0.97

Funds flow from operations 123,075 158,948 145,358 93,973 41,354 124,726 103,766 107,451 79,369 54,640
Per share – basic 1.50 1.94 1.78 1.15 0.51 1.53 1.30 1.38 1.04 0.73

Income (loss) 23,655 39,884 86,223 36,474 (5,510) 61,321 55,052 64,531 50,280 33,842
Per share – basic 0.29 0.49 1.05 0.45 (0.07) 0.75 0.69 0.83 0.66 0.46

Capital expenditures 70,664 71,424 78,357 50,164 21,493 56,292 76,615 71,233 76,064 41,518
Financial Position

Total assets 445,876 488,378 455,901 402,082 354,273 427,016 302,593 270,860 216,306 139,012
Working capital 127,933 163,371 126,605 105,815 108,113 152,337 77,806 58,495 23,684 21,540
Total equity 366,469 368,696 367,269 309,684 308,335 354,589 270,717 231,209 163,159 114,747
Return on total equity %(2) 6 11 25 12 (2) 20 22 33 36 34
Common Share Data

Common shares outstanding (#)
At December 31 82,158 82,049 81,904 81,714 81,487 81,456 80,346 78,738 77,045 75,530
Weighted average 82,098 81,968 81,851 81,525 81,476 81,426 79,586 77,899 76,240 74,658

Share trading

High ($) 23.77 18.12 16.53 14.82 14.45 18.40 17.93 19.20 15.13 9.90
Low ($) 15.75 12.04 11.53 10.31 8.26 8.00 11.51 13.11 8.86 5.75
Close ($) 22.98 17.15 12.00 13.96 11.65 14.05 12.49 13.26 14.45 9.25
Volume (#) 24,105 25,053 24,658 23,793 28,605 36,505 34,560 22,804 22,884 36,900
Dividends ($) 0.53 0.46 0.38 0.33 0.26 0.22 0.16 0.13 0.09 0.06  

 (1) Non-IFRS financial measures are defined in the Management's Discussion and Analysis section.
 (2) Return on total equity is calculated as earnings over the simple average of the beginning and ending total equity.
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